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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Hands Form Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | present the annual report
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Year").

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were successfully listed (the
“Listing”) on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”) on 16 August 2019 (the “Listing Date”). It
marked an important milestone for the Group and laid a solid foundation
for future development. On behalf of the Group, | would like to extend our
appreciation to all parties who have helped us build our business over the
years as well as to those who helped to bring the Company to the Listing on
the Stock Exchange.

The Group is a Hong Kong-based subcontractor engaged in the provision of
wet trades works and the wet trades related ancillary works in Hong Kong.

The revenue from the provision of wet trades works and the wet trades
related ancillary works for the Year amounted to approximately HK$305.0
million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$253.1 million, or
45.4% compared to approximately HK$558.1 million for the year ended
31 December 2019. The decrease was primarily due to substantial
completion of the projects on hand during the Year and competitive
construction project pricing arising from intense market competition. The
gross profit of approximately HK$3.8 million reported for the Year was
lower than the gross profit of approximately HK$70.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019 due to the increase in construction costs to deal
with unexpected changes to the on-site arrangements initiated by main
contractors and increase in subcontracting costs owing to the prolonged
need for maintaining the required site workforce resulted by the 2019 novel
coronavirus (COVID-19).

Looking ahead, the ongoing COVID-19 outbreak in Hong Kong will
continue to adversely impact the construction industry in the near future.
Regardless of the near-term challenges and uncertainty in the industry, we
will remain focused on our long-term goals and sustainable development.
The Board will take appropriate measures to improve operating efficiency
and a proactive approach in tendering profitable projects in order to lessen
any adverse impact on the Group.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
deep gratitude to our committed staff and Directors for their dedication and
contribution, and to sincerely thank our customers, business partners and
investors for their continuous support and trust.

Cheung Kwok Fai Adam
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 24 March 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Business Review and Outlook

The Group is an established subcontractor in Hong Kong and is principally
engaged in the provision of wet trades works and other wet trades related
ancillary works. Wet trades works include plastering on floors, walls and
ceilings, tile laying on internal and external walls and floors, brick laying and
marble works.

The Group provides wet trades works through its principal operating
subsidiaries, namely, Pak Fai Engineering Limited (“Pak Fai”) and Ma Yau
Engineering Limited (“Ma Yau"). Both of the principal operating subsidiaries
have been registered in the Registered Specialist Trade Contractors
Scheme (formerly known as the Subcontractor Registration Scheme) of the
Construction Industry Council. Pak Fai and Ma Yau first completed such
registration under the predecessor scheme in April 2004 and our registration
has since then covered finishing wet trades, marble, granite and stone work
with a wide range of specialties including brick work, plastering and tiling,
spray plaster and screeding, marble and granite works.

As at 31 December 2019, the original contract sum of the Group’s ongoing
projects (including projects that have commenced but not substantially
completed as well as projects that have been awarded but not yet
commenced) in aggregate amounted to approximately HK$947.1 million.
As at the date of this annual report, the Group was in the course of bidding
for or pending the tender results of four projects, with an estimated total
contract sum of approximately HK$317.1 million.

The Directors are aware that the ongoing outbreak of COVID-19 added
substantial uncertainty to the Hong Kong economy and further contributes
to a downward trend in the Hong Kong construction market. The intense
market competition may lead to smaller number of successful tenders and
guotations and lower value of contracts awarded to the Group. The Group’s
gross profit margin is also under pressure from competitive project pricing
on tenders and quotations, which in turn affects financial performance of
the Group. In order to maintain its market share in the wet trades works
industry, the Group will continue to closely monitor the market and respond
to changes in market conditions. The Directors are confident that with the
Group’s reputation in the wet trades works industry and its experienced
management team, the Group is in a good position to compete with its
competitors. The Group will continue to improve its competitiveness in the
market by continuing to provide quality works to its customers. The Group
will also continue to proactively seek opportunities to expand its customer
base and its market share and undertake more wet trades projects which
will enhance value to the shareholders of the Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE s e i

Financial Review

Revenue

The Group's revenue decreased by approximately HK$253.1 million or
approximately 45.4% from approximately HK$558.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019 to approximately HK$305.0 million for the
Year. The decrease in revenue was mainly due to substantial completion
of the projects on hand during the year ending 31 December 2020 and
competitive construction project pricing arising from intense market
competition.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit of the Group for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$3.8 million, representing a decrease of approximately 94.6% as
compared with approximately HK$70.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2019. The Group's gross profit margin for the Year was
approximately 1.25%, as compared with approximately 12.6% for the
year ended 31 December 2019. The decrease in gross profit was primarily
due to the decrease in revenue as discussed above and the decrease in our
gross profit margin. The decrease in gross profit margin was mainly due
to the need to employ additional subcontractors and resources to deal
with unexpected changes to the on-site arrangements initiated by main
contractors and increase in subcontracting costs owing to the prolonged
need for maintaining the required site workforce resulted by sustained
outbreak of the COVID-19.

Other Income

Other income of the Group for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$13.5 million, representing an increase of approximately 3,647.9%
or HK$13.1 million compared with approximately HK$359,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2019. The increase was primarily due to certain
government subsidies for the Year.

Administrative Expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$9.6 million, representing an increase of approximately
6.6% compared with approximately HK$9.0 million for year ended
31 December 2019. The increase was mainly attributable to the increase in
post-listing professional fee.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Finance Costs

Finance costs of the Group for the Year were approximately HK$382,000,
representing an increase of approximately 46.9% compared with
approximately HK$260,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019. The
significant increase was mainly attributable to an increase in the interests
on bank borrowings, which was primarily driven by the increasing working
capital for sustaining its business operation.

Net Profit

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the Year decreased by
approximately HK$28.4 million or approximately 79.4% from approximately
HK$35.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 to HK$7.4
million for the Year. The decrease in the Group’s net profit for the Year
was mainly due to the negative effect of the decrease in revenue and
decrease in gross profit margin as discussed above and partially offset by
the recognition of the one-off government subsidy granted to the Group
under the Employment Support Scheme for the Construction Sector (Casual
Employees) launched by the Construction Industry Council in connection
with the outbreak of COVID-19.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and
Capital Structure

The Shares were successfully listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on the Listing Date and there has been no change in capital structure of the
Group since then.

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s issued capital was HK$26,000,000
and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 2,600,000,000 of
HK$0.01 each.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had total cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$5.9 million (31 December 2019: approximately HK$24.7
million). The total borrowings of the Group, consisting of bank overdrafts
and bank borrowings, as at 31 December 2020 were approximately
HK$17.8 million (31 December 2019: approximately HK$3.8 million). All
borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollars. Interests are charged
at fixed and floating rates. The Group did not carry out any interest rate
hedging policy.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE s e i

Treasury Policy

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach towards
its treasury policy. The Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position
to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities, and
other commitments can meet its funding requirements all the time.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had approximately HK$6.3 million
of net book value of its leasehold land and buildings pledged for banking
facilities (31 December 2019: HK$6.5 million).

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong. Most of the operating
transactions and revenue were settled in Hong Kong dollars and the Group’s
assets and liabilities are primarily denominated in Hong Kong dollars. With
the insignificant portion of monetary transactions and assets denominated
in foreign currencies, the Group did not engage in any derivatives
agreement and did not commit to any financial instrument to hedge its
foreign exchange exposure during the Year (2019: nil).

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2020, the gearing ratio (calculated as total bank
borrowing (i.e. bank overdrafts and bank borrowings) divided by the total
equity) was approximately 7.8% (31 December 2019: approximately 1.7%).

Capital Expenditure

During the Year, the Group invested approximately HK$2.7 million on the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment. Capital expenditure was
principally funded by internal resources.

Capital Commitments and Contingent
Liabilities

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no material capital commitments
or contingent liabilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of
Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures

During the Year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

Significant Investment Held

During the Year, the Group did not hold any significant investments.

Future Plans for Material Investments or
Capital Assets

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Future plans and use of
proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company dated 6 August 2019 (the
“Prospectus”), the Group does not have any other plans for material
investments or capital assets.

Use of Proceeds

The amount of the proceeds, net of listing expenses (including underwriting
fee) either recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income or deducted from the share premium, from
the Listing (“Net Proceeds”) was approximately HK$90.0 million. The
Group intends to apply the Net Proceeds in accordance with the proposed
applications set out in the section headed “Future plans and use of
proceeds” in the Prospectus.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE s e i

An analysis of the utilisation of the Net Proceeds up to 31 December 2020 is

set out below:

TFRZ OMEINT

Actual use of Net
Proceeds up to

Unutilised
balance up to

EE-T-EF+-A=+—H BREMAER

Expected date
of full utilisation
of the unutilised

Planned 31 December 2020 31 December 2020 Net Proceeds
EZ-Z-EF
+=A=+-8 E-ECEE BYEARER
BREAMSE t=A=+-H 2B NERE
28a RERE ZARMEAEER Mt E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
1 Payment for upfront costs 1 ZHERE 39,900 39,900 - N/A
A
2 Expansion of workforce 2ERETHA 18,700 156 18,544 On or before
June 2022
i 2
NAZZA
3 Upgrading our office facilities and 3AREMO B E 9,900 1,953 7,947 On or before
information technology system eSS June 2021
RZZ-—F
NASZA
4 Acquiring machinery and equipment 4 BEE R KR 8,300 7,100 1,200 On or before
June 2021
RZZZ—%
SRS A
5 Payment of performance bonds 5 X ABAIRE 7,500 - 7,500 On or before
June 2022
i 2
NAZZAE
6 Renting a new warehouse 6 HEHMMEE 3,200 - 3,200 On or before
June 2022
R-ZB-—F
NAZZ A
7 Acquiring safety equipment and tools 7 BEZ 2R ENLT A 2,500 2,500 - N/A
T
90,000 51,609 38,391
The Directors regularly evaluate the Group’s business objectives and may %%iﬁﬂﬁﬂé$g ErEEEER - WAlgeirm

change or modify plans against the changing market condition to ascertain
the business growth of the Group. During the Year, save that the full
utilisation of the proceeds allocated for the payment of performance bonds
is deferred to on or before June 2022 due to reduced project turnover rate
under the COVID-19 outbreak, the Directors considered that no modification
of the use of proceeds described in the Prospectus was required.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2020, the Group employed a total of 21 employees
(including executive Directors, non-executive Director and independent
non-executive Directors), as compared to a total of 42 employees as at 31
December 2019. Total staff costs which include Directors’ emoluments for
the Year were approximately HK$12.3 million (year ended 31 December
2019: approximately HK$16.3 million). The salary and benefit level of
the employees of the Group are competitive and individual performance
is rewarded through the Group’s salary and bonus system. The Group
conducts annual review on the salary increase, discretionary bonuses and
promotions based on the performance of each employee.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Board after
recommendation from the remuneration committee of the Company,
having considered factors such as the Group’s financial performance and the
individual performance of the Directors, etc.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees.

During the Year, the Group has not experienced any significant problems
with its employees due to labour disputes nor has it experienced any
difficulty in the recruitment and retention of experienced staff.

Final Dividend

The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of final dividend
to shareholders of the Company for the Year.

Compliance Adviser’s Interests

As notified by the Company’s compliance adviser, Grande Capital Limited
("Grande”), as at 31 December 2020, except for the compliance adviser
agreement entered into between the Company and Grande dated 14 March
2019, neither Grande nor its directors, employees or close associates had
any interests in relation to the Company, which is required to be notified to
the Company pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).
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Report of the Directors
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The Board is pleased to present to the shareholders this annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the Year.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company while the principal
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of wet trades works
and other wet trades related ancillary works in Hong Kong. Details of
the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements. There was no significant change in the
Group’s principal activities during the Year.

Business Review

Discussion and analysis of principal activities as required by Schedule 5 to
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), including a discussion of the principal risks facing the Group and
an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business can be
found in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” set
out on pages 7 to 13 of this annual report. The discussion forms part of this
report of the Directors.

Results and Dividend

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page
82 of this annual report. The Board has resolved not to recommend the
declaration of final dividend to shareholders of the Company for the Year.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

Relationship with Key Stakeholders

The Directors are of the view that employees, customers, sub-contractors
and suppliers are the keys to the sustainable development of the Group.
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Employees

Employees are regarded as valuable assets of the Group. The objective of
the Group’s human resource management is to reward and recognise well-
performed staff by providing a competitive remuneration package and
implementing a sound performance appraisal system with appropriate
incentives. In particular, the Group promotes career development and
advancement by providing appropriate training and opportunities in order
to enhance the employees’ work performance.

Customers

The Group’s major customers include construction work companies engaged
in public and/or private construction projects in Hong Kong. The Group has
established long-term business relationship with these customers for many
years and committed to offer quality service to meet their requirement. The
Group endeavours to maintain contacts with these customers regularly in
order to understand their needs and provide required service to support
their businesses.

Sub-contractors and Suppliers

The Group has developed a long-standing relationship with a number
of sub-contractors and suppliers and the Group has always been
communicating closely with them to ensure that there will be good quality
and sustainable goods and services provided to the Group. When selecting
sub-contractors and suppliers, the Group often requires them to satisfy
certain criteria such as experience and capability, financial strength, track
record, and reputation.

Share Capital

Details of movements during the Year in the share capital of the Company
are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 84 of this
annual report.
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Distributable Reserves

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had distributable reserves
amounted to approximately HK$66.3 million (2019: HK$66.2 million).

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme disclosed below, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into by the Company during the Year or
subsisted at the end of the Year.

Share Option Scheme

The share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 22 July 2019
(the “Share Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme was approved
by written resolutions of the Shareholders and as approved by the listing
committee of the Stock Exchange which is valid and effective for a period
of ten years commencing on 22 July 2019. The purpose of the Share
Option Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to Participants for their
contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain
high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group and any Invested Entity.

Pursuant to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and in compliance with
the provisions in Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, the maximum number of
Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and all share option schemes of the
Company shall not exceed 260,000,000 Shares, being 10% of the Shares in
issue as at the date of this annual report.

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme to eligible
participants in any 12 months period up to the date of grant shall not
exceed 1% of the Shares in issue as at the date of grant, any further grant
of options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval of
Shareholders in a general meeting.
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The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets on the date of grant, which must be a trading date; (i) the average
of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five trading dates immediately preceding the date
of grant; or (jii) the nominal value of a Share.

A share option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during the period to be determined and notified
by the Board to the participant at the time of making an offer for the grant
of share option.

An offer of the grant of a share option shall be accepted by the eligible
participants within a period of 21 days from the date of offer of grant of
share option. The consideration paid by each grantee for the acceptance
and grant of each share option is HK$1.00, which has to be paid within 21
days.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no option has been

granted. Therefore, no option was exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the
Year and there was no option outstanding as at 31 December 2020.
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Directors

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam
Mr. Ng Sheung Chung

Mr. Ma Kan Sun

Non-executive Director
Mr. Chong Kan Kin (Appointed on 24 April 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung

Mr. Lo Chi Hung

Mr. Pak Shek Kuen

In accordance with article 108 of the Company’s articles of association
(the “Articles”), one-third of the Directors of the Company, will retire
by rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, provided that every Director shall
retire at least once every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Ng Sheung Chung,
Mr. Ma Kan Sun and Mr. Lo Chi Hung will retire from office as Directors
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the section headed
"“Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.

Information regarding Directors’ emoluments is set out in note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report. Annual confirmation
of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules has been
received from each of the independent non-executive Directors. The Group
considers all independent non-executive Directors to be independent under
the Listing Rules.
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Directors’ Service Contract

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date,
unless terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other.

All of the non-executive Director and the independent non-executive
Directors have respectively entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of one year unless terminated by not less than one
month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

Dividend Policy
The Company has adopted dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in

compliance with code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code. It is the policy of
the Company, in considering the payments of dividends and to allow
shareholders of the Company to participate in the Company’s profits whilst
retaining adequate reserves for future growth of the Group.

Under the Dividend Policy, in deciding whether to propose a dividend and in
determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into account, inter
alia:

o the general financial condition of the Group;

o capital and debt level of the Group;

o future cash requirements and availability for business operations,
business strategies and future development needs;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the
Group's lenders;

° the general market conditions; and

o any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and any other
applicable laws, rule and regulations and the Articles. The Policy will be
reviewed by the Board from time to time and there can be no assurance
that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific periods.

Management Contracts

During the Year, no contract, other than employment contracts, concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the Company’s business was entered into or existed.

Directors’ Emoluments and Five Highest Paid
Individuals

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

During the Year, (i) there was no early termination of appointment of
directors, and accordingly, no termination benefit was provided to or
receivable by any director; (ii) no consideration was provided to or receivable
by third parties for making available directors’ services; and (iii) save as
disclosed in this annual report, there were no loans, quasi-loans or other
dealings in favour of Directors, their controlled bodies corporate and
connected entities, and the Company’s holding company. No significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year ended
31 December 2020 or at any time during the Year.

Directors’/Controlling Shareholders’ Material
Interests in Transactions, Arrangements and
Contracts that are Significant in Relation to
the Group’s Business

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to
the Group's business to which any of the Company, its subsidiaries, fellow
subsidiaries or its parent companies was a party and in which a Director, an
entity connected with a Director, a controlling shareholder of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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Competing Interests

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the Directors, the
controlling shareholders of the Company or any of their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) that compete or may compete,
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group and any other conflicts
of interest which any such person has or may have with the Group and is
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules since the
Listing Date and up to date of this annual report.

Non-Competition Undertaking

Each of the controlling shareholders of the Company has made an annual
declaration to the Company that since the Listing Date and up to date of
this annual report, he/it has complied with the terms of non-competition
undertakings (“Non-Competition Undertakings”) given in favour of the
Company. The independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed
the status of compliance by each of the controlling shareholders with the
undertakings stipulated in the Non-Competition Undertakings and have
confirmed that, as far as the independent non-executive Directors can
ascertain, there is no breach of any of such undertakings.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage for
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising from corporate activities.

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in
or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their
respective offices, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through
their own fraud or dishonesty.
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Updated Information of Directors

The emoluments of the Directors are subject to regular review of the
Board and the Remuneration Committee based on factors such as the
Group’s financial performance and the Directors’ individual performance
and abilities. In September 2020, having considered the pressing need to
optimise financial resources of the Group at a time of economic uncertainty,
the Board decided, upon recommendation of the Remuneration Committee,
that the directors’ fee of the following Directors be adjusted as follows:

FRESZEHNEH

EENFMEMEFERFHEESRELRE
EHHRR  EEEARRRENSREEH
Wit e ROB-BENA - ERELETEE
WERETECAEENBARNANRE -« 3
EERBFMEESORBRE  RER T
EENEFERBRNT

Director Fees per annum (HK$)
EE FFEEH(ET)
Mr. Pak Shek Kuen RS A 120,000
Mr. Lo Chi Hung EEELE 120,000
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung B 96,000

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there are no other updates to
the information of the Directors that are required to be disclosed herein
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures of the Company and its
Associated Corporations

As at 31 December 2020, interests and short positions in the Shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) held by the Directors and chief executive
of the Company which have been notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or have been
entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, or otherwise have been notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules are as follows:
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(i) Long position in the Shares

Capacity/Nature
Name of Director of interest
EEHE B RERME
Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam Interest in a controlled
(“Mr. Adam Cheung”) corporation
(Note)
SREDE ([FREE D (MIEE) R EE R

Note: 1,950,000,000 Shares are held by Wonderful Renown Limited (“Wonderful
Renown") which is beneficially owned as to 84% by Mr. Adam Cheung and 16%
by Ms. Cheung Lai Chun (“Ms. LC Cheung”). By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Adam
Cheung is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Wonderful Renown.
Mr. Adam Cheung is the brother of Ms. LC Cheung.

(i) Long position in the ordinary shares of
associated corporation

Report of the Directors
EEEWE

(i) RERHNEFE

Percentage of

Number of Shares shareholding
R B E BREBDL
1,950,000,000 75%

fiRE - 1,950,000,000 % A% 5 F Wonderful Renown
Limited ([ Wonderful Renown ) # & -
Wonderful Renown %3 Bl| A 3R 5 &£ sk B2 42
T((REZL ) EREF 4% K 16% « BRI
FHRHEEED) - SRR E WA AR Wonderful
Renown #7482 FT B R&{n R A - RIEE
BRL T2 HE -

(i) MNEECEEEERNER

Name of Capacity/ Number of
associated Nature share(s) held/ Percentage
Name of Director corporation of interest interested of interest
Fiig mEER
EEHE B EEERE B REmtE W& E EZED
Mr. Adam Cheung (Note) Wonderful Renown Beneficial owner 84 84%
RS (PsE) EmEEA

Note:  Wonderful Renown is the direct shareholder of the Company and is an associated
corporation within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Except as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executive of
the Company had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying
Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as at the date of this annual
report as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the Model Code.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in the
Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 31 December 2020, so far as it is known by or otherwise notified by

any Director or the chief executive of the Company, the particulars of the

corporations or individuals (other than a Director or chief executive of the

Company) who had or were deemed or taken to have an interest or short

position in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which would

fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and

3 of Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register required to be kept

under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in the Company:

Name

BRERER BB

Wonderful Renown

Ms. LC Cheung

Rt

Ms. Chan Shui King
BRImIR 2 £

Note:

1.

Capacity/Nature

of Shareholder of interest

5 EEtE

Beneficial Owner (Note 1)
EnEa A (1)

Interests held jointly with
other persons (Note 2)

BHE A A+ HFER A (RE2)

Interest of a spouse (Note 3)
BofBiEes (FiEE3)

Wonderful Renown is a direct shareholder of the Company. Wonderful Renown is owned as
to 84% by Mr. Adam Cheung and 16% by Ms. LC Cheung. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Adam
Cheung is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Wonderful Renown. Mr. Adam
Cheung is the brother of Ms. LC Cheung.

Mr. Adam Cheung, Ms. LC Cheung and Wonderful Renown are parties acting in concert
(having the meaning as ascribed thereto in the Takeovers Code) pursuant to the deed of
confirmation and undertaking dated 21 February 2019. As such, Mr. Adam Cheung, Ms. LC
Cheung and Wonderful Renown will together control 75% of the entire issued share capital
of the Company. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. LC Cheung is deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Wonderful Renown.

Ms. Chan Shui King is the spouse of Mr. Adam Cheung. Accordingly, Ms. Chan Shui King
is deemed or taken to be interested in the Shares held by Mr. Adam Cheung is interested in
under the SFO.
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HIE R 336 (RFEM B LM NI M R
FARBEEBHEAN (RRAREFRTEETHA
BERIN BT

RARDBWEE

Number of Shares
held/interested
(long position)
i HERERK
ROEE (FE)

Percentage of
shareholding

REFDH

1,950,000,000 75%

1,950,000,000 75%

1,950,000,000 75%
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Company had
not been notified by any persons who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Listed
Securities of the Company

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

Arrangements to Acquire Shares or Debentures

At no time during the Year and up to the date of this annual report was the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or
debentures of the Company or any body corporate.

Major Customers, Subcontractors and
Suppliers

The approximate percentages of the Group’s revenue and cost of services
attributable to major customers, subcontractors and suppliers during the
Year and year ended 31 December 2019 are as follows:

Approximate % of total revenue:

from the largest customer

from the five largest customers in aggregate
Approximate % of total cost of services

E—Kﬂﬁﬁtt

incurred: BMAOBA DL
from the largest cost of services BARBRBRAIGLL
from the five largest cost of services ARG AE G

in aggregate
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None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors who owned more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had any interest in the five largest customers nor
suppliers during the Year.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws
of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Related Party Transactions

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the Year are set
out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report. Al of the Group’s related party transactions are fully exempted from
the independent shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

After the Listing Date, Pak Fai, as tenant, and Mr. Adam Cheung, as
landlord, entered into a tenancy agreement dated 1 September 2019 (the
“Tenancy Agreement |”), for the rental of a property located at Room 5,
14/F, Hang Bong Commercial Centre, 28 Shanghai Street, Jordan, Kowloon,
Hong Kong with an aggregate floor area of approximately 301 square feet
which is used as an office. The term of the tenancy is from 1 September
2019 to 28 February 2020, with a rental of HK$12,040 per month (exclusive
of management fee and air-conditioning charges) payable in advance. The
tenancy was not renewed upon expiry.

During the Year, Pak Fai, as tenant, and Ma Do Success Limited (a company
owned by Mr. Adam Cheung, Ms. LC Cheung, Mr. Ma Kan Sun and his
elder sister as to 40%, 30%, 15% and 15%, respectively), as landlord,
entered into a tenancy agreement date 10 June 2020 (the “Tenancy
Agreement I1"”), for the rental of a property located at Room 10, 2/F, Hang
Bong Commercial Centre, 28 Shanghai Street, Jordan, Kowloon, Hong Kong
with an aggregate floor area of approximately 377 square feet which is used
as an office. The term of the tenancy is from 1 June 2020 to 30 November
2020, with a rental of HK$14,550 per month (exclusive of management fee
and air-conditioning charges) payable in advance. The tenancy was renewed
for a term of one year.
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The tenancies disclosed above constitute continuing connected transactions
of the Group under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The rent payable
under the Tenancy Agreement | and Tenancy Agreement Il was determined
after arm’s length negotiations between the parties thereto with reference
to the market rent payable for comparable premises and is in line with the
market level.

Further details of other continuing connected transactions of the Group are
set out in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.
Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has complied with the applicable disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in relation to any connected transactions

and continuing connected transactions.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirmed that the
Company has maintained a sufficient amount of public float for the Shares
as required under the Listing Rules since the Listing Date and up to the date
of this annual report.

Events After the Reporting Period

There has been no material subsequent event undertaken by the Company
or by the Group after 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this annual
report.

Risks and Uncertainties

The Group's results of operation may vary significantly from time to
time depending on, among other factors, the political and economic
environment, level of competitiveness, the quality of service and timeliness
of subcontractors, and the adequacy and efficiency of internal processes
implemented by staff and systems. The Group believes that there are certain
risks and uncertainties involved both in the markets and in the operations
which can be summarised as below.
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Operational Risks

Due to unexpected circumstances such as bad weather and geological
issues, the actual time and costs incurred in construction projects may
exceed the Group’s estimation at the time of tendering submission and
the work in progress may be interrupted. As a result, such variation could
adversely affect the Group’s operations and financial results. In such
situations, the Group will implement measures such as re-allocating human
resources and recruiting additional manpower including subcontracting the
works in order to expedite the work progress.

On the other hand, it is inevitable that there could be chance of industrial
accidents happened. In order to minimise the rate of accidents, the
Group has already recruited sufficient safety officers to regularly monitor
the work environment, implementation of safety rules and regulations
and establishing safety policies. In addition, the Group also appointed a
registered safety auditor to conduct corporate safety audit semi-annually to
maximise the effectiveness of safety management.

It is quite common in the construction industry that collection of receivables
takes longer time and it may lead to late settlement by customers especially
at the times of unexpected crises due to political and economic factors. To
mitigate the pressure of financial liquidity, the Group produces aging analysis
on regular basis and contacts the management level of the customers so as
to get a better understanding of their solvency status.

Market Risks

Due to the construction industry in Hong Kong is dominantly subject to
Government’s large-scale infrastructure projects and such projects would
require prolonged process of legislative approval, it is more passive toward
the future’s prospect of the industry. Nevertheless, the Group will not just
rely on participating in projects from public sector but the Group will also be
more involved in projects from the private sectors.

In the meantime, demand of residential and commercial buildings has been
growing continuously. The Group perceived that such demand will sustain
the booming in the construction industry and attract more competitive
entrants to the industry. In order to grip holding of the market shares, the
Group acquired new machineries to cope with the demand. With its in-
depth experience and knowledge in the field, the Group is capable to
continue providing one-stop construction machinery service to meet the
needs of various customers.
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Tax Relief

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares. If the Shareholders
are unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing
of, dealing in or exercising of any rights in relation to the Shares, they are
advised to consult their professional advisers.

Independent Auditors

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) resigned as the independent auditor
of the Group with effect from 20 November 2020. For further details, please
refer to the Company’s announcement dated 20 November 2020. HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB") was appointed as the independent
auditors of the Company with effect from 20 November 2020 to fill the
casual vacancy following the resignation of Deloitte.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year have been
audited by HLB, which will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Having been
approved by the Board upon the Audit Committee’s recommendation, a
resolution to re-appoint HLB as the independent auditors of the Company
and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration will be proposed at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Corporate Governance Code

The Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions as set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules since the Listing Date and up to the date of
this annual report except for the deviation from code provision A2.1 of the
CG Code as explained in the Corporate Governance Report.

The details of the Group’s compliance with the CG Code are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report from pages 36 to 49 of this annual report.
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Environmental Policy

Sustainability is one of the key factors to the Group’s development, as
well as for the viability of its business and the welfare of the community.
The Group is committed to offering premium products and services to
obtain customer satisfaction all round. In recent years, the Group has
been looking for ways to minimise the adverse impact of its businesses
on the environment (i.e. air and noise pollution) by improving operational
efficiencies and implementing eco-friendly measures. The Group will
continue to strive for energy-saving and environmental-friendly equipment
and materials for its construction projects. The Group will regularly review
related policy to promote awareness and practices on resource usage
reduction, waste reduction and energy conservation, and be more active in
involving various community programmes and contributing to the society.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, as far as the Directors and senior
management of the Company are aware, the Group has complied in
all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operations of the Group during the
Year.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Kwok Fai Adam
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 24 March 2021
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Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam (RE#) (formerly known as
Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai (5REJ##)), aged 61, is the chairman of the Board,
the chief executive officer of the Company, an executive Director and
one of the controlling shareholders of the Company (the “Controlling
Shareholders”). He was appointed as a Director on 30 January 2019 and
was re-designated as an executive Director and appointed as chairman of
the Board and chief executive officer of the Company on 22 July 2019. He
is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee. He is responsible for the
overall management and overseeing and monitoring of the projects of the
Group.

Mr. Adam Cheung has over 30 years of experience in the construction
industry. He joined the Group in April 1990 when he started working as
a manager at Pak Fai. He has been a director of Pak Fai and Ma Yau since
December 1992 and April 1997 respectively.

Mr. Adam Cheung is the uncle of Mr. Ng Sheung Chung, an executive
Director, the uncle of Mr. Ma Kan Sun, an executive Director, and the
brother of Ms. LC Cheung, one of the Controlling Shareholders.

Mr. Ng Sheung Chung (fHi& %) (“Mr. Ng”), aged 46, is an executive
Director. He was appointed as a Director on 30 January 2019 and was re-
designated as an executive Director on 22 July 2019. He is responsible for
the overall management and business development of the Group.

Mr. Ng obtained a Higher Diploma in Computer Engineering (With Credit)
from the Hong Kong Technical Colleges in June 1997.

Mr. Ng has over 19 years of experience in the construction industry. Since
June 2001, he has been working at Pak Fai and his major job duties are
review of contracts, material lists and price lists and assist the company in
preliminary project cost estimations. Since January 2010, he has also been
working at Ma Yau as a manager. Since September 2011, he has been a
director of both Pak Fai and Ma Yau.

Mr. Ng is the nephew of Mr. Adam Cheung, an executive Director and one
of the Controlling Shareholders, the cousin of Mr. Ma Kan Sun, an executive
Director, and the nephew of Ms. LC Cheung, one of the Controlling
Shareholders.
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Mr. Ma Kan Sun () ("Mr. Ma”), aged 40, is an executive Director.
He was appointed as a Director on 30 January 2019 and was redesignated
as an executive Director on 22 July 2019. He is responsible for the overall
project management, administrative matters and safety management of the
Group.

Mr. Ma completed the Safety & Health Supervisor Training Course
(Construction Industry) in August 2012. Since then, he has supervised the
Safety Department and is also responsible for the safety management
system of the Group. Mr. Ma received secondary education in Canada.

Mr. Ma first joined the Group when he was employed by Pak Fai as a
site foreman from May 2002 to June 2004. After pursuing other career
opportunities, he returned to Pak Fai as an office manager in March 2011.
He has been a director of Pak Fai and Ma Yau since March 2017 and

September 2011 respectively.

Mr. Ma is the nephew of Mr. Adam Cheung, an executive Director and one
of the Controlling Shareholders, the cousin of Mr. Ng Sheung Chung, an
executive Director, and the son of Ms. LC Cheung, one of the Controlling
Shareholders.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Chong Kan Kin ((22)%£) (“Mr. Chong”), aged 50, was appointed
as a non-executive Director on 24 April 2020. He is also a member of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee. He is primarily
responsible for providing strategic advice on the Group’s business
development.

Mr. Chong obtained a degree of Bachelor of Science in Computer Science
from Jinan University (f A% in June 1996. Mr. Chong has over 10
years of experience in the field of real estate consultancy and has extensive

experience in information technology.
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Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Pak Shek Kuen (B $3#E) (“Mr. Pak”), aged 62, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 21 July 2019. He is also the
chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member of the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. He is primarily responsible for
providing independent judgment to bear on issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resource, key appoints and standard of conduct
of the Group.

Mr. Pak obtained a Master of Business Administration from City University
of Hong Kong in November 1995. He further obtained a Master of Science
in Electronic Commerce and Internet Computing from The University of
Hong Kong in December 2003. Mr. Pak has been an associate of The Hong
Kong Society of Accountants (currently known as the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants) since April 1988. He was admitted an
associate of The Chartered Association of Certified Accountants in July 1988
and further admitted a fellow of The Chartered Association of Certified
Accountants in July 1993.

Mr. Pak has over 40 years of experience in the fields of internal audit,
treasury, risk management and business management.

Mr. Lo Chi Hung (E&#) (“Mr. Lo”), aged 55, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 21 July 2019. He is the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee, and also a member of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee. He is primarily responsible for providing
independent judgment to bear on issues of strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resource, key appoints and standard of conduct of the
Group.

Mr. Lo obtained a Bachelor of Laws from Staffordshire University, United
Kingdom in July 1996 and a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from The
University of Hong Kong in September 1999. He was admitted as a solicitor
of the High Court of Hong Kong in February 2002 and is a member of the
Law Society of Hong Kong.
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Mr. Lo has over 18 years of experience in the legal profession. Since
admission of solicitors in February 2002, Mr. Lo has worked at various Hong
Kong solicitors’ firms, including David Y.Y. Fung & Co., Solicitors where he
was an assistant solicitor from February 2002 to May 2004, and Christopher
Li & Co., Solicitors where he was an assistant solicitor from June 2005 to
February 2008. From March 2009, he has been working at Patrick Mak &
Tse, a solicitors’ firm, where he is currently a consultant.

Mr. Ho Kwok Lung (f1E1%E) (“Mr. Ho"), aged 40, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 21 July 2019. He is a member of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. He is primarily responsible for providing independent judgment
to bear on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resource,
key appoints and standard of conduct of the Group.

Mr. Ho obtained a Professional Diploma in Construction Project
Management from The University of Hong Kong School of Professional
and Continuing Education in July 2005 and a Bachelor of Applied Science
(Construction Management and Economics) from Curtin University of
Technology in Australia in February 2008.

Mr. Ho has over 20 years of experience in the construction industry. He
has worked at various construction contractors in Hong Kong, including
Gammon Construction Limited where his last position was construction
supervisor from August 2000 to May 2008, Kin Sum Construction Company
Limited where he was a site engineer from December 2010 to February
2014, New City Construction Company Limited as a site agent from March
2014 to December 2015, and Chi Sum Engineering Limited as an assistant
project manager and director since January 2016.
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Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management

Financial Controller and Company Secretary

Mr. Tsui Chun Hung (% #) (“Mr. Tsui”), aged 33, is our financial
controller and company secretary. He was appointed as the financial
controller and company secretary of the Company on 30 January 2019. He
is responsible for overseeing the Group’s finance and accounts function and
internal controls, and providing financial and business advice to the Board
and senior management of the Group.

Mr. Tsui obtained a Bachelor of Arts with First Class Honours in Accounting
from Edinburgh Napier University in the United Kingdom in February 2012.
Mr. Tsui has been a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants since March 2014.

Mr. Tsui has over 12 years of experience in the fields of accounting and
auditing. He worked in Shinewing (HK) CPA Limited where his last position
was assistant audit manager from July 2012 to August 2015. He worked as
an assistant financial controller in Deson Development Limited, a subsidiary
of Smart City Development Holdings Limited (formerly known as “Deson
Construction International Holdings Limited”) (a company listed on the
Stock Exchange with stock code 8268), from August 2015 to September
2018. He joined the Group in September 2018 when he started working for
Pak Fai as its financial controller.
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The Company strives to attain and maintain a high standard of corporate
governance as it believes that effective corporate governance practices are
fundamental to enhancing shareholders’ value and safeguarding interests
of shareholders and other stakeholders. Accordingly, the Board attributes
a high priority to identifying and implementing appropriate corporate
governance practices to ensure transparency, accountability and effective
internal controls.

Code on Corporate Governance Practices

The Company has adopted the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules. Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report, the Company has complied with the code provisions under the CG
Code, except for the deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code
as explained below. The Company will continue to enhance its corporate
governance practices appropriate to the operation and growth of the
business of the Group.

According to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the role of the chairman
and the chief executive officer of the Company should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Since the Listing Date and
up to the date of this annual report, the role of the chairman and the chief
executive officer of the Company are both performed by Mr. Adam Cheung.
In view of Mr. Adam Cheung’s role in the day-to-day management and
operations of the Group, being one of the Controlling Shareholders of the
Group and as one of the Directors if not the sole director of other members
of the Group, as at the date of this annual report, the Board believes that it
is more effective and efficient overall business planning and implementation
of business decisions and strategies of the Group that it shall be in the best
interests of the Group for Mr. Adam Cheung to take up the dual roles of
chairman and chief executive officer of the Company. Therefore, the Board
considers that the deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code
is appropriate in such circumstance and that there are sufficient checks
and balances in place by the operations of the Board, which comprises
experienced and high calibre individuals and adequate independent element
in the composition of the Board.

rate Governance Report
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The Board will continue to review and consider splitting the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer of the Company at a time when it is
appropriate and suitable by taking into account the circumstances of the
Group as a whole. The Directors are aware that the Company is expected
to comply with the CG Code. Any deviation from the CG Code should be
carefully considered and disclosed in the interim and annual report. Save as
disclosed above, the Company will continue to comply with the CG Code to
protect the best interests of the shareholders.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the transactions of
securities of the Company by the Directors and the relevant employees (who
likely possess inside information of the Company) (the “Securities Dealing
Code”) on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“"Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. All Directors
have confirmed, following specific enquiries by the Company, that they fully
complied with the Model Code and the Securities Dealing Code throughout
the period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report.

Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for formulating business strategies and monitoring
the performance of the business of the Group. Other than the daily
operational decisions which are delegated to the management of the
Group, most of the decisions are made by the Board. All Directors, including
independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of
valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board
for its efficient and effective functioning.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules during the Year. The Board is constituted of seven members, including
three executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent

non-executive Directors.
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The composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ng Sheung Chung

Mr. Ma Kan Sun

Non-executive Director
Mr. Chong Kan Kin (Appointed on 24 April 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung

Mr. Lo Chi Hung

Mr. Pak Shek Kuen

Biographical details of each Director and relationship between board
members are set out on pages 31 to 34 of this annual report.

The Company has signed a letter of appointment with each of the
independent non-executive Directors on 22 July 2019. The principal
particulars of these appointment letters are (a) each of them agreed to act
for an initial term of one year commencing from the Listing Date with a
director’s fee, which may be terminated by not less than one month’ written
notice served by either party on the other, and (b) is subject to termination
provisions therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as
set out in the Articles.

Pursuant to article 108(a) of the Articles, one-third of the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting and every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every 3 years.
However, a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent
non-executive Directors. The Company is of the view that all independent
non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms
of the guidelines during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.
The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
One of the independent non-executive Directors possesses the appropriate
professional accounting qualifications and financial management expertise.
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During the Year, four Board meetings and one annual general meeting
were held and the attendance record of each Director is set out in the table
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RAER  AAFBTUAEER SRR — K
BEBFAS - SEELENTHRRTE -

below:
Attendance/Number
of Meeting
HERE,EBRRH
Board Annual General
Directors Meeting Meeting
BE=x By BREFEBFRE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam o B ¥ 5 A 4/4 1/1
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (EEFITIHARZ)
Mr. Ng Sheung Chung LRk & 4/4 1/1
Mr. Ma Kan Sun B SAE 4/4 11
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Chong Kan Kin EEfE ST
(Appointed on 24 April 2020) (R—Z_ZFNA_+NAERT) 2/4 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung Il SR 4 4/4 1/1
Mr. Lo Chi Hung EEMEE 4/4 1/
Mr. Pak Shek Kuen BT 4/4 1/1

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and related
materials, and the advice and services of the Company Secretary, and
has the liberty to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s
expense if so reasonably required. Directors will be continuously updated on
the major development of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate
governance practices. The Company expects to convene at least four regular
Board meetings in each financial year at approximately quarterly intervals in
accordance with code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code.

EREZERARAT « 2020 F5R

REFTARZDEFTSXNHLBEBME - 577
AARWEBRHEEANMRE  LARGERE
FRETSKBYUEXER  BRAAANRAE
EoEERERERE LR EMERE
BEREZBRERIEFNEN  UBRKREFE
STERBRENERERER - RELEER
SFRIZ SFRMEXCE AR - AARIFERENE
B BRFEERTEINREREETSEH - O
REBFE—R-



40

Corporate Governance Report

RYRVA //\—/-\-\\A\

=+
/EliF

|:r

Continuous Professional Development

The Company encourages the Directors to attend any relevant programme
to further enhance their knowledge so as to enable them to discharge
their duties and responsibilities more effectively. Prior to their appointment,
all Directors have been given relevant guideline materials and attended a
training regarding the duties and responsibilities of being a Director, the
CG Code, the Listing Rules and applicable laws and regulations and duty of
disclosure of interest. Continuing briefings and professional development to
Directors will be arranged from time to time.

All Directors have provided record of their training by way of reviewing
materials relating to their duties under the Listing Rules and the Company
will continue to arrange and fund the training in accordance with the CG
Code provisions.

Board Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely the audit committee
(the "Audit Committee”), the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) and the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee"”). The table below provides the membership information of
these committees on which certain Board members served:

FESREE
ARRBEEE L FE TS - PR EANE
EARRERRIE - ERAEMEAREITEBE R
Bif - NERERT - MMEESHEEIARMEE
MEL ARG S REFENRE MBE
REARTH - ETRAIRERARES K E
SR EBREERE - EENFHEGRLE
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EREREE TR LR BEIEE -

EEXREE

ExgCRU=-AZ8g AEKZBe((#F
REBE]) REZES((REZEE))LH
MEZEe((FMEES]) - TREHEZFTE

BEEIRUNE TEFTEKREZKEER

Audit Nomination Remuneration
Directors Committee Committee Committee
== ERXEES BEEEE® FHEESR
Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam o (B 488 52 A= - C -
Mr. Pak Shek Kuen AT E C M M
Mr. Lo Chi Hung B AR S M M C
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung g & M M M
Mr. Chong Kan Kin EERE ST M M
Notes: gz
C — Chairman of the relevant Committee C-HAZESER
M — Member of the relevant Committee M- HEZEEXE
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Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 22 July 2019 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules
and paragraph C.3.3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee include, among others, (a) making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditors and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditors; (b) reviewing the Company’s financial statements, the
annual report and accounts and the half-year report and significant financial
reporting judgments contained therein; and (c) reviewing the Company’s
financial controls, internal control and risk management systems. The Audit
Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Pak Shek Kuen, Mr. Ho Kwok Lung and Mr. Lo Chi Hung. Mr. Pak Shek
Kuen is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the Year, the Audit Committee has held two meetings to review the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and the financial
results for the six months ended 30 June 2020 and the year ended 31
December 2019. The individual attendance record of each member at the
meeting of Audit Committee is set out below:

Name of member of the Audit Committee

EREEERENRA

Mr. Pak Shek Kuen SN Pten
Mr. Lo Chi Hung EEERE
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung fAIBEE ST 4
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 22 July 2019 with
written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph A.5.2 of the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include, among
others, (a) reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement
the corporate strategy; (b) identifying individuals suitably qualified to
become members of the Board and selecting or making recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; (c)
assessing the independence of the independent non-executive Directors;
(d) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of and succession planning for the Directors; (e) reviewing the
board diversity policy of the Company (“Board Diversity Policy”); and (f)
developing and reviewing, as appropriate, the policy for the nomination
of Directors. Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Pak Shek Kuen, Mr. Lo Chi Hung and Mr.
Ho Kwok Lung, one non-executive director, namely Mr. Chong Kan Kin and
one executive Director, namely Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam. Mr. Cheung
Kwok Fai Adam is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held two meetings and the
attendance record of each Director is set out in the table below:

Name of member of
the Nomination Committee

REZEGREHRA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam o B 5 A
Mr. Pak Shek Kuen SEL e
Mr. Lo Chi Hung EARESTE
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung fAIBIBE ST A
Mr. Chong Kan Kin EEiEkE

REZEE
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AL RERLZEGER o

RAFE REZEBEVRITTMAEH M&
EENHFREEHTINTRSD

Attendance/
Number of
Nomination Committee Meeting

HEARY, REEZESTEHRE

2/2
2/2
2/2
2/2
172
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the
approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company and also to enhance the quality of performance of the Company.
In designing the Board’s composition, the Board has been considering from
a number of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills,
and knowledge. The ultimate decision is based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy from time
to time to ensure its continued effectiveness and monitor its implementation
by conducting review of the Board's composition at least once annually.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
for the purpose to identify and evaluate a candidate for nomination to the
Board for appointment or to the shareholders for election as a Director. The
Nomination Committee shall consider, among others, the following criteria
in evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships:

o Reputation for integrity;

o Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the relevant industry
and other relevant sectors;

° Commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and attention to
the Company’s business;

o Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, experience (professional or
otherwise), skills and knowledge;

o The ability to assist and support management and make significant
contributions to the Company’s success;

o Compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed under
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the appointment of an independent
non-executive Director; and

o Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the Committee
or the Board from time to time.
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Each proposed new appointment, election or re-election of a Director shall
be assessed and/or considered against the criteria and qualifications set
out in the Nomination Policy by the Nomination Committee which shall
recommend its views to the Board and/or the shareholders for consideration

and determination.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 22 July 2019
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.26 of the Listing
Rules and paragraph B.1.2 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee, under the principle that no Director or any
of his associates should be involved in deciding his own remuneration
include, among others, making recommendations to the Board on (a)
the remuneration policy and structure for all of the Directors and senior
management; (b) the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing remuneration policies; (c) the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their offices or appointments; and (d) the
remuneration of the non-executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lo Chi
Hung, Mr. Pak Shek Kuen and Mr. Ho Kwok Lung and one non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Chong Kan Kin. Mr. Lo Chi Hung is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

During the Year, two meetings were held and the attendance record of each
Director is set out in the table below:

Name of member of
the Remuneration Committee

FHESEREME

Mr. Pak Shek Kuen AT E
Mr. Lo Chi Hung EEERE
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung Bk
Mr. Chong Kan Kin EHiEkaE

Full details of remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid
employees are provided in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report.
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Company Secretary

Mr. Tsui Chun Hung, was appointed as the Company Secretary on 30
January 2019. Please refer to the section “Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management” for his biographical information. During the Year,
Mr. Tsui Chun Hung has undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for
the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for overseeing the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Year, which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Group on a going concern basis and are in compliance with the relevant
accounting standard and principles, applicable laws and disclosure provisions
of the Listing Rules. The Directors aim to present a clear and understandable
assessment of the Group’s financial position and prospects. The Board is
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The responsibilities of the external auditors with respect to the financial
reporting are set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report of this annual
report.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

One of the major functions of the Board is to maintain an adequate risk
management and internal control systems to safeqguard shareholders’
investments and the Group’s assets, and reviewing their effectiveness
annually through the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee reports to the
Board on any material issues and makes recommendations to the Board.

Policies and procedures have been designed to safeguard assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance with applicable law,
rules and regulations. The policies and procedures provide a reasonable
assurance that material misstatements or losses are prevented, potential
interruption of the Group’s management system is detected, and risks
existing in the course of arriving at the Group’s objectives are properly
managed.
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During the Year, the Company engaged an external independent consulting
firm to review the effectiveness of certain of the Group’s risk management
and internal controls systems. Relevant recommendations made by the
consultant have already been implemented in stages by the Group to further
enhance its internal control policies, procedures and practices. The Board
considered that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
were effective and adequate during the Year.

The Group has conducted an annual review on whether there is a need for
an internal audit department. Given the Group’s relatively simple corporate
and operation structure, as opposed to diverting resources to establish a
separate internal audit department, the Board, supported by the Audit
Committee, is directly responsible for risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.

Auditors’ Remuneration

For the Year, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited was engaged as the
Group's independent auditors. The statement of the auditors of the
Company about their reporting responsibilities on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the Year is set out in the Independent Auditors’
Report of this annual report. During the Year, the remuneration paid or
payable to the Company’s auditors, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited,
and their affiliated firms, in respect of their audit and non-audit services was
as follows:

Audit services EZIRTE

RAREE - K@ﬂéﬁq—%ﬁ\\ﬁﬁﬁi@?ﬂﬁﬂ
WA AN EE TR ﬁ%’*ﬁ&lﬂq*ﬁﬁ*% mema

Mt - NEEE DH %ﬂﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁf‘?hfﬁﬁ’ﬁﬁ ez
& AE— *HJIE@EIN*B&*T 128 - =SS 4
B - EFER/AKENEREIE M ARRE

BERGERAFRIDEAMATR

REEHREFTER LN EZIFT - BE1EF
Eiast - ERAKEN A E MEERBRER
& REEsBMERELIBILNABEZED
Pl EEZZESNH T EFEEEER
AEBEMREREE MR SEERG ARSI ES
R o

P BB BN
REFE - BESHEHHERANEER
AREEBILBED o KD FRBE BN

UAEBENAFEGEVBEHRROBE B ER
BRFNANFRNBLAZEEMBRE - RAF

B - BASREN AR B BN B A& 5 =T
FTB R A7) K H B 1 BB AZ S IEBAZ IR TS
FEN T

Service Fee
k&
HK$'000
FA&T

830

830

Directors and Officers Insurance

Appropriate insurance covers on Directors’ liabilities have been in force to
protect the Directors and officers of the Group from their risk exposure from
the business of the Group since the Listing Date.
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Investor Relations and Communication with
Shareholders

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with all
shareholders. The Company believes that maintaining a high level of
transparency is a key to enhance investor relations.

The Company has established several communication channels, including (a)
the annual and extraordinary general meetings which provide a forum for
shareholders to communicate directly with the Board; (b) printed corporate
documents mailing to shareholders; (c) announcement disseminating the
latest activities of the Group on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange; and (d) the Company’s website providing an electronic means of
communication.

Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an EGM
The following procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting (“EGM") are subject to the Articles (as amended from
time to time), and the applicable legislation and regulation, in particular the
Listing Rules (as amended from time to time):

(a) Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, any one or more shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company (the “Eligible
Shareholder(s)”) carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition;

(b) The written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting,
signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) and deposited to the Board or
the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business
at Room 9, 2/F, Hang Bong Commercial Centre, 28 Shanghai Street,
Jordan, Kowloon, Hong Kong, and such may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists;
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(© The requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding, the reason(s)
to convene an EGM and the details of the business(es) proposed
to be transacted in the EGM, and must be signed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned together with a deposit of a sum of money
reasonable sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in serving
the notice of the resolution and circulating the statement submitted
by the shareholders concerned in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the registered shareholders;

(d)  The requisition will be verified with Hong Kong branch share registrar
and transfer office of the Company and upon their confirmation that
the requisition is proper and in order, the Board will convene an EGM
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the requirements
under the Articles to all the registered shareholders. On the contrary,
if the requisition has been verified as not in order or the shareholders
concerned have failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the
Company’s expenses for the said purposes, the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the
Board will not call for an EGM; and

(e) If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the Eligible Shareholder(s) himself/ herself/
themselves may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the Eligible Shareholder(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholder(s)
by the Company.

Procedures by which Enquiries may be put to the
Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquiries to the Board. Such enquiries
can be addressed to the Company Secretary in writing by mail to the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 9, 2/F, Hang
Bong Commercial Centre, 28 Shanghai Street, Jordan, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.
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Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

There are no provisions in the Articles or the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands for Shareholders to put forward new resolutions at general meetings.
Shareholders who wish to put forward a new resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting in accordance with the procedures
set out in the above paragraph headed “Procedures for Shareholders to
Convene an EGM".

Significant Changes in Constitutional Documents

As of the Listing Date to the date of this annual report, there were no
changes made to the constitutional documents of the Company.
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ABOUT THE COMPANY, MANAGEMENT
SYSTEMS AND GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

About the Company

As an established subcontractor in Hong Kong, Hands Form Holdings
Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”)
principally engages in the provision of wet trades works and other wet
trades related ancillary works. Wet trades works include plastering on floors,
walls and ceilings, tile laying on internal and external walls and floors, brick
laying and marble works. The Group provides wet trades works through our
principal operating subsidiaries, namely, Pak Fai Engineering Limited (“Pak
Fai") and Ma Yau Engineering Limited (“Ma Yau").

Our Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG")
Management System Certification

To ensure the effective implementation of ESG development strategies, the
Group highly values the establishment of various management systems.
Based on different international standards for ESG related management
systems, the Group formulates and implements sustainable development
strategies at all levels. Meanwhile, the Group has obtained the following
major certifications:

o ISO 14001:2015 Environmental Management Certification
o OHSAS 18001:2007 Occupational Health and Safety Management
Certification

° ISO 9001:2015 Quality Management Certification

The ESG Governance Structure

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) acknowledges
its responsibility for the management of the Group and is collectively
responsible to ensure the sustainability of the Group’s development.
The Board is responsible for formulating the ESG strategies of the
Group, monitoring the ESG performance of its operation, reviewing
the effectiveness of the ESG management system and determining the
ESG policies of the Group. The chairman of the Board is responsible for
overseeing the strategic planning and leadership of the Group, while senior
management is responsible for effective implementation of the strategies
formulated by the Board.
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ABOUT THE REPORT
Scope of Reporting

Unless stated otherwise, this Environmental, Social and Governance Report
(the "ESG Report”) summarises the initiatives, policies, and related ESG key
performance indicator (“KPI"”) data of the Group’s major operating revenue
activities which are limited in Hong Kong. The Group will continue to assess
the major ESG aspects of different businesses to determine whether they
need to be included in the ESG reporting.

Reporting Framework

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”)
as set out in the Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Information relating to the
Group's corporate governance practices has been set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 36 to 49 of this annual report.

Reporting Period

The ESG Report specifies the ESG activities, challenges and measures being
taken during the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Year").
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

In formulating operational strategies and ESG measures, the Group takes
into account our stakeholders' expectations and concerns, and strives to
improve our performance through mutual cooperation with stakeholders.
The Group has maintained close communication with our key stakeholders
by utilising diversified key communication channels, shown as below:

Stakeholders
H0E

Investors and shareholders

REE MR

Customers
®PF

Suppliers and contractors
e MR

Employees

(=35

The community, non-governmental
organisations and media

A~ JFERATHE KRS

Communication Channels

Annual general meeting and other
shareholder meetings
REBFREG REMBRRAE
Financial reports

IS

Announcements and circulars
NEREH

Company website

YNIFER

Tender meetings

BEeE

Project briefings

B

Construction site regular meetings
(including status meeting and
safety meeting)

BEEIHHE (RIEEEEEN

[P A
ZErEr

Telephone interviews and

communication
ESEEES5

Regular management meetings
EHEEESS

Regular performance appraisals
TEHRE G

Internal announcement
AEN=

Charity events
RELY

ESG reports

RIE - B RERRE

BFoE2H

ST B R LR B RE A
AEEEZERHEORS LMY THH
BRI ENELA EUARERMOES -
REEREEDASELEEEREEERM
WEIEHOERFEER  AWRIENT

Expectations and Concerns
HEREE

Complying with relevant laws and
regulations

BT AEREE RS

Financial results

P 3

Service quality

fRsE =

Service delivery time and quality
BR S 3B ] R EE &

Supply chain management
g E IR

Occupational health and safety
BEREEZS

Equal opportunities

FERE

Remuneration and benefits
KAz A

Career development

BERER

Giving back to society
a4

Environmental protection
RIBIRAE
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

A materiality assessment in the form of surveys was conducted during
the Year, where the Group identified sustainability factors that were
material to our business operations. The management and employees who
are responsible for the key functions of the Group have participated in
preparing the ESG Report, assisted the Group in reviewing its operations,
identifying key ESG issues and assessing the importance of these issues to
our businesses and stakeholders. The Group has compiled a questionnaire
in reference to the identified material ESG aspects to collect the information
from relevant departments and business units of the Group. The Group's
material sustainability aspects will be covered in the ESG Report and the
materiality matrix is as follow:
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The Group's Materiality Matrix for 2020

it

AHERORE 2 A EIRE

/

Corporate Social Responsn)\hty
EMRERT

HiFHED

w
*

Waste Management

BhEE

LEVEL OF INFLUENCE ON STAKEHOLDERS' ASSESSMENTS AND DECISIONS

High AEER T -_TFNERTERE

Occupational Health and Safety

Project Quality Management
HEEEER

Supply Chain Management
HAERER

Low LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE OF ECONOMIC, ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL IMPACTS High
& HEE  RERMENTERE =

CONTACT US

Comments and suggestions are welcome from our stakeholders. You may
provide comments on the ESG Report or towards our performance in
respect of sustainable development via the following channels:

Address: Room 9, 2/F.,, Hang Bong Commercial Centre,

28 Shanghai Street, Jordan, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Email: info@handsform.com
Telephone: 2127 4675

EREZERARAT « 2020 F5R

B AR 2R 1A

BREEROERHER LR - BT AEB
PLES ﬁ?fﬁ%% : ?\i@)iiﬁi’*iﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ

ik o BENEGER LS 285%

EBEEFL2EIE
EBH :  info@handsform.com
EET 2127 4675



54

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

585 I ] &M)m HRE

A.

ENVIRONMENTAL

Al.

Emissions

The Group strives to protect the environment through the
implementation of relevant policies and measures in its
business activities and workplace. The Group has formulated
relevant policies relating to environmental management in
accordance with the ISO 14001:2015 certification to govern
environmental management and minimise the impact
caused by our operations. The Group carries out a series
of environmental management measures at construction
sites, covering planning, procurement and various project
procedures.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong Kong
related to air and GHG emissions, discharges into water
and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste including but not limited to, the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance, Waste Disposal Ordinance and Noise Control
Ordinance, that would have a significant impact on the
Group.

Exhaust Gas Emissions

As a corporation providing wet trades works and other
wet trades related ancillary works, the Group’s exhaust gas
emissions are limited to emission generated by forklifts,
and the Group considers the relevant exhaust gas emissions
generated are insignificant. However, the Group still strives
to mitigate the exhaust gas generated from our business as
much as possible. Fuel consumption reduction measures for
forklifts have been carried out and will be described in the
section headed “GHG Emissions” under this aspect.
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GHG Emissions

The major sources of GHG emissions of the Group are
diesel consumption for forklifts (Scope 1) and electricity
consumption for the office (Scope 2). During the Year, the
Group had generated a total of approximately 40.45 tCO_e
GHG emissions' (2019: 78.07 tCO,e) which consisted of
approximately 37.11 tCO,e Scope 1 GHG emissions and
approximately 3.34 tCO,e Scope 2 GHG emissions. Based on
the total revenue of the Group during the Year, the intensity
of total GHG emissions was approximately 0.13 tCO,e/million
HK$ revenue?, which remains consistent with that in 2019.
The significant change in total GHG emissions is mainly due
to the decrease in diesel consumption of the forklifts.

To mitigate GHG emissions, the Group encourages workers
to switch off engine whenever the forklifts are idled and plan
routes ahead of time to reduce route repetition. Our forklifts
undergo regular maintenance service to ensure optimal
engine performance and fuel use. With such measures
implemented, emissions from diesel consumption for forklifts
have been minimised and employees’ awareness on GHG
emissions reduction has been enhanced.

Note:

1. GHG emissions data are presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent
and are based on, but not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the World
Resources Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, “How to prepare an ESG report - Appendix Il: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, the “Global Warming Potential Values” from the IPCC Fifth
Assessment Report, 2014 (“AR5") and the 2020 Sustainability Report
published by the CLP Power Hong Kong Limited.

2. During the Year, the total revenue of the Group was approximately
HK$305.0 million. This number would also be used for calculating other
intensity data in the ESG Report.
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Sewage Discharge

As the Group does not consume significant volume of
water in our business activities, our business activities did
not generate material discharges into water during the
Year. Moreover, wastewater of the Group is discharged into
the municipal sewage pipeline network for processing and
the majority of the water supply and discharge facilities
are provided and managed by the property management
company.

Waste Management

Hazardous Wastes

Due to our business nature, the Group did not generate a
significant amount of hazardous wastes during the Year.
In case there are any hazardous wastes produced, the
Group must engage a qualified chemical waste collector
to handle such wastes in order to comply with the relevant
environmental laws and regulations.

Non-hazardous Wastes

As the construction projects of the Group are outsourced
to subcontractors, the non-hazardous wastes generated by
the Group's operations mainly consist of paper consumed in
the office. During the Year, the Group had generated a total
of approximately 349.27 kg non-hazardous wastes (2019:
289.40 kg) with an intensity of approximately 1.15 kg/million
HK$ revenue.

The Group regularly monitors the consumption of paper, and
encourages the use of electronic media for communication
and double-sided printing wherever possible. To promote
reusing paper, a collection box for single-sided used paper
is placed next to each printer and reminders are posted in
the office. With such measures implemented, employees’
awareness on paper consumption reduction has been
enhanced.
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Use of Resources

The Group continues with initiatives to introduce resource
efficiency and eco-friendly measures to the Group's
operations, and is committed to optimising the use of
resources in all of its business operations.

During our daily operation, fuel and electricity are the major
energy consumed. The Group has established relevant policies
and procedures in governing the efficient use of resources,
in reference to the objective of achieving higher energy
efficiency and reducing the use of unnecessary materials.

Energy Consumption

The Group’s major sources of energy consumption are diesel
consumption for forklifts and purchased electricity for the
office. During the Year, the Group had consumed a total of
approximately 151,814.68 kWh diesel and approximately
9,029.78 kWh electricity. Total energy consumption was
approximately 160,844.46 kWh (2019: 311,722.14 kwh)
and the intensity was 527.36 kWh/million HK$ revenue. The
significant change in total energy consumption is mainly due
to the decrease in diesel consumption of the forklifts.

Apart from the reduction measures for forklifts mentioned,
the Group places great emphasis on electricity conservation
in order to minimise the impact brought by the Group’s
operation to the environment. The Group encourages our
employees to set room temperature ranges from 23°C
to 25°C and switches off electrical appliances to avoid
unnecessary consumption. The Group selects energy-efficient
equipment where applicable and will adopt immediate
maintenance once damage is reported. With such measures
implemented, employees’ awareness on energy conservation
has been enhanced.
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Water Consumption

The Group’s water consumption mainly consists of water
consumed in the office. The Group’s water consumption
expenses are included in the property management fee,
and therefore the Group did not have water consumption
record during the Year. Due to our operating locations, the
Group does not encounter any significant issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose. Still, the Group is dedicated to
promoting behavioural changes in water usage at offices and
encouraging water conservation. Environmental signages
with water-saving messages are posted in prominent places
to remind employees to conserve water.

Use of Packaging Materials

As the Group does not involve in any production process, it
does not consume packaging materials, hence this aspect is
considered as irrelevant to the Group.

The Environment and Natural Resources

Noise Management

The Group recognises that noise pollution may be generated
due to our business nature. Therefore, the Group has
implemented a number of measures to reduce noise level and
ensured that the quality of life of the neighbourhood would
not be severely disrupted. Whenever the noise level exceeds
the prescribed level regulated by the Noise Control Ordinance
and other relevant guidelines issued by the Environmental
Protection Department, the Group will investigate the
underlying factors and make respective arrangements.
Silent equipment will be used where available and will be
maintained regularly. With the relevant measures, the Group
aims to minimise the impact brought to our neighbourhood.
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Indoor Air Quality

Good indoor air quality is important for employees who work
in the office. Indoor air quality in our workplace is regularly
monitored. The Group has adopted several measures
to ensure a good indoor air quality at the office, which
include but not limited to conducting regular cleaning of air
conditioning system. With such measures, indoor air quality is
maintained.

B. SOCIAL

B1.

Employment

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal

Employees’ qualification, professional skills and experiences
exert significant influence on the quality of services. As an
equal opportunity employer, the Group emphasises a fair,
open, objective and non-discriminatory selection process. The
Group’s “Human Resources and Payroll Management Policies
and Procedures” regulates the recruitment procedures with
the principles of fairness and justice. The promotion of
employees is determined by appraisals that are conducted
regularly by the Human Resources (“HR”) Department
to evaluate staffs’ work performance. The “HR Processes
Manual” has listed the process of appraisals and the types
of appraisals in detail, namely quarterly appraisals and yearly
appraisals. The termination of employment contract is
governed by internal policies to ensure all dismissal comply
with relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong. The Group
strictly prohibits any kinds of unfair or illegitimate dismissals.
Our management conducts face-to-face interviews with
the resigned staff in order to understand our employees’
opinions.
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During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong Kong
related to employment including but not limited to, the
Employment Ordinance and the Minimum Wage Ordinance,
that would have a significant impact to the Group.

The Group had experienced a decrease in the number of full-
time employees from 42 as at 31 December 2019 to 21 as at
31 December 2020, all of whom are from Hong Kong. Out
of the total number of staff, 19 of our employees were male
and 2 of them were female, as compared to 37 and 5 as at
31 December 2019 respectively. Majority of the workforce
were within the 30-50 age group, accounting for 12 of our
staff, while 3 employees were under 30 years old and 6 were
over 50 years old.

Remuneration and Benefits

In order to attract and retain skilful employees, the
remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees
are periodically reviewed. The salary and benefit levels of the
Group's employees are competitive, and they are referenced
to market conditions, individual qualifications and experience.
Apart from the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF"),
medical insurance and labour insurance are purchased for
employees once they join the Group, while salaries increment
and discretionary bonuses may be awarded to employees
according to the assessment of individual performance and
market conditions.
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Diversity and Equal Opportunities

The Group is committed to creating and maintaining an
inclusive and collaborative workplace culture in which all can
thrive. The Group is dedicated to maintaining workplaces that
are free from discrimination, physical or verbal harassment
against any individual on the basis of race, religion, colour,
gender, physical or mental disability, age, place of origin,
marital status, and sexual orientation. The Group also has zero
tolerance of sexual harassment or abuse in the workplace
in any forms. Any employee who is intimidated, humiliated,
bullied or harassed (including sexual harassment) may report
to the employee’s representative, or file complaints directly to
the management representative or the general manager, and
the Group will take serious approaches to resolve these issues
upon receiving the said complaints.

Health and Safety

Employees’ safety is regarded as the top priority due to
high-risk activities and critical exposure of employees during
specific works such as construction at heights during the
delivery of the Group’s services. The Group is committed
to providing healthy and safe working environment for
all employees and contractors, and strives to achieve zero
tolerance toward hazards, incidents, non-compliance and
accidents.

Accredited by the OHSAS 18001:2007 certification, the
Group has established the “Safety and Health Policy” which is
reviewed by the Group’s management annually or once there
is a significant change in relevant regulations, the Group’s
governance structure or working environment. The Safety
Committee, which consists of managers, Safety Officer and
supervisors, is responsible for the effective implementation
of the policy. A “Safety Plan” is written for each project to
support the policy. To ensure the policy is up to date and
applicable for the current status of the project, our Safety
Officer conducts interviews with the construction site
supervisors as well as the site workers on the understanding
of the policy.
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During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong
Kong related to health and safety including but not limited
to, the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance and the
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance, that would have a
significant impact to the Group.

Occupational Health and Safety

In order to control and mitigate the safety risks in our
construction projects, which may involve high-risk activities,
safety is treated as our first priority during the delivery of our
services. Clearly stated in the “Safety Plan”, all workers must
obtain the Construction Industry Safety Training Certificate
(also known as the green card). Our construction sites are
equipped with first-aid boxes and fire extinguishers. Various
reminders are also posted around the construction sites to
ensure our workers are wearing safety gears and aware of
the dangerous area, and accident statistics are prominently
displayed at the same time.

The Group also demands our workers to be equipped with
personal protective equipment and ensure that the personal
protective equipment is effective. Personal protective
equipment can only be purchased from suppliers after
consulting the security consultant and discussing with the
Safety Committee. Relevant personal protective equipment,
including but not limited to helmets, safety goggles, hearing
protectors, fall arrestors and full-body safety harnesses, are
provided to all on-site workers in order to prevent accidents
in high risks activities especially at heights. Workers must
receive trainings and instructions on the correct usage of
the personal protective equipment and procedures for the
maintenance, storage and replacement of personal protective
equipment.
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Safety Trainings

In order to reduce incidents and enhance the Group’s image,
the Group aims to raise the employees’ awareness of health
and safety through safety trainings. There are mainly four
types of safety trainings, namely the guided courses, the
Construction Industry Safety Training Certificate programme,
specific trainings, and safety and health lectures. The Group
provides appropriate safety trainings to all management
personnel, supervisors and front-line employees. Employees
are encouraged to take initiatives to notify relevant safety
trainings course. All new employees must receive internal
one-hour safety guidance training within one week after on
board.

Response to the novel coronavirus (COVID-19)

As the COVID-19 pandemic has continued through 2020,
like the whole construction industry, the business operation
of the Group was also affected. Not only did the pandemic
affect the Group financially, it has also posed serious health
risk to day-to-day operations of the Group, as our business
requires the gathering of workers to complete the works.
The Group has complied with all public health measures of
the government. Various virus prevention measures were
carried out, for example, employees or visitors of the Group
must wear a surgical mask and have their temperature taken
upon entering the office, construction site or other properties
owned by the Group. The Group has also provided its
employees with adequate protective gears and surgical masks
in hopes of preventing the spread of the virus.
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Development and Training

Employee Development and Training

The Group recognises that staff training and development is a
strong pillar to the sustainable operation of the business and
driving force to drive future business growth. Adopting the
“Training & Development Policy”, the Group encourages our
employees to attend training programmes designed by the
Group, take initiative to assess skills and seek development
activities that match needs. Training officers and supervisors
shall work with staff to assess and provide feedback on their
skills and interests, advice and arrange training programs
and develop training materials and activities that match their
needs of career development objectives. They develop an
annual development plan to support employee development
and plan a training schedule for each employee.

Training Programmes

Training programmes mainly consist of two types, namely
internal trainings and external trainings. External trainings
include conferences and forums. The HR Department
encourages employees to attend external training programs
that focus on topics of relevance to their position. For internal
trainings, the Group designs trainings for its employees
regarding their own needs of their job duty, position status,
or experience. For new hired employees, a set of orientation
training materials including company structure, “Code of
Conduct” and “Safety Procedures” and other relevant
information developed by HR Department will be provided on
their first working day.

The Board is encouraged to attend external seminars and
training programmes at the Group’s expense to update
themselves with legal and regulatory developments, as well
as the business and market changes to facilitate the discharge
of their responsibilities. Continuing briefing and professional
development to directors will be arranged whenever
necessary.
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Labour Standards

Prevention of Child Labour and Forced Labour

Child and forced labour are strictly prohibited during the
recruitment process as defined by laws and regulations.
During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong Kong
related to the prevention of child or forced labour including
but not limited to, the Employment of Children Regulations
and the Employment Ordinance, that would have a
significant impact to the Group.

Personal data is collected during the process to assist in the
selection of suitable candidates and to verify candidates’
personal data. The HR Department is responsible to ensure
identity documents are carefully checked. If violation is
involved, it will be dealt with the circumstances as clearly
stated in the Group’s “Employee Handbook".

Furthermore, employees of the Group work overtime on a
voluntary basis to prevent any breaches of labour standards.
The Group also prohibits any punishments, management
methods and behaviours involving verbal abuse, physical
punishment, physical abuse, oppression, sexual harassment,
etc. against our employees for any reason.

Supply Chain Management

Supply Chain Management

The Group’s suppliers mainly include suppliers of construction
materials and tooling, machinery and equipment rental
service providers and suppliers of safety consultancy services,
repair and maintenance services and logistics services.
During the Year, the Group had engaged 367 suppliers and
subcontractors while all of them were located in Hong Kong.
The Group generally order the relevant construction materials
and services on a project-by-project basis, and therefore does
not enter into any long-term supply agreements with our
suppliers.
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To assess suppliers’ and subcontractors’ ability to supply
materials and deliver works which meet all the requirements
and specifications, the Group has formulated “Prequalification
of Suppliers and Subcontractors” policy to regulate the
evaluation on suppliers’ and subcontractors’ performance.
Quotation is asked from at least three suppliers or
subcontractors from the supplier list or subcontractor list
after tender is confirmed. “Supplier Evaluation Form” is used
to evaluate suppliers’ performance after the completion of
the project on the quality of the materials delivered, ability
to meet requirement, competitive prices and deliveries on
schedule. The Group attends regular meetings with suppliers
and subcontractors in order to evaluate the performance of
workers, safety measures in the construction sites and quality
of materials. Suppliers or subcontractors may be suspended
or removed from the approved list if they fail to fulfil our
standards.

Product Responsibility

Achieving and maintaining high quality standard for projects
are the most important for the sustainable growth of the
Group. Our direct customers include main contractors and
subcontractors of various building construction projects
in Hong Kong while the ultimate owners of the projects
undertaken by us mainly include the Government and
property developers. As a subcontractor, the Group mainly
secures our projects from contractors through tenders by
invitation. The Group strives to maintain good relationship
with our major customers to establish good reputation and
to gain future business opportunity.
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During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong Kong
related to product health and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products and services provided and
methods of redress including but not limited to, the Trade
Descriptions Ordinance and Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance,
that would have a significant impact to the Group. There was
no complaint received during the Year. Given the Group's
business nature, the Group was not involved in the sale of
products, therefore disclosure on product recall procedures
and number of products recalled are not applicable.

Project Quality Management

The Group’s quality management system has been
accredited by the ISO 9001:2015 certification. The Group
commits to fulfilling our customers’ satisfaction with high
quality construction service, and implementing the “Project
Tendering and Management Policy” to ensure our clients’
requirements and expectations are fully understood and
documented. The Project Manager is responsible to monitor
the project progress and job workmanship as per contractual
and other requirements. The Contract Manager will then
review all documents referenced in the tender received by
the Group. The Tendering Department prepares preliminaries
tender notes after the review to record the project details,
specific contract payment terms and conditions, and the
information required to be submitted. Such information will
be brought to the Board for their acceptance or rejection of
tender.
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Privacy Protection

Despite that the Group has limited access to our customers’
personal data due to our business nature, as a responsible
service provider, the Group has formulated internal policy
to regulate the handling of confidential information while
protecting customers’ privacy. All confidential data related to
the Group’s business and customer information are securely
protected and only used for internal purpose. Any leakage
of confidential information to the third parties is strictly
prohibited. As such, in carrying out our operations, the
Group adheres to the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and
expressly reiterates confidentiality obligations.

The Group is determined to strengthen the protection of
customers’ privacy. Our employees are trained to maintain
the confidentiality of our customers’ information which they
may have access to during work. The Group also standardises
procedures for filing in order to protect confidential
information.

Advertising and Labelling

As a subcontractor who provides wet trades works and
other wet trades related ancillary works, the Group does
not have any significant issues on advertising and labelling.
Nevertheless, in the Group’s dealings with its clients,
information provided should be complete, true, accurate,
clear, and comply with all relevant laws and regulations
regarding the proper advertising, including but not limited to
the Trade Descriptions Ordinance.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

The Group strives to achieve high standard of ethics in
business operations and does not tolerate any forms of
corruptions, frauds and all other behaviours violating work
ethics. Unethical or illegal events such as corruption, bribery,
and collusion are strictly prohibited. The Group stipulates the
disciplinary code in the Employee Handbook and employees’
Code of Conduct, and ensure the employees understand the
details of the terms. The Group encourages employees to
report any suspected misconduct.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong Kong
related to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
including but not limited to, the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance, that would have a significant impact to the
Group.

Conflict of Interest Management

In order to prevent employees from not taking corresponding
measures because of their personal interests, the Group has
formulated the “Declaration of Interest” which provides
guidelines and procedures to employees in exercising their
utmost good faith and honesty in all transactions involving
their duties and under no circumstances use their positions or
knowledge gained for their own personal benefits. Employees
must ensure that there is no conflict of interest between
their personal interests and their duties, obligations and
responsibilities to the Group. Those who have or have had a
personal relationship with related person where a conflict of
interest is perceived should provide written declarations at the
earliest possible opportunity.
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BRI g MERHRS

B8.

Whistleblowing Mechanism

Committed to the highest possible standards of openness,
probity and accountability, the Group expects and
encourages our employees who have concerns about any
suspected misconduct or malpractice within the Group to
come forward and voice those concerns. Therefore, the
Group adopts a “Whistleblowing Policy” for all levels and
operations. Complainants are assured of protection against
unfair dismissal, victimisation or unwarranted disciplinary
action, even if the concerns turn out to be unsubstantiated.
The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring and
reviewing the effectiveness of the “Whistleblowing Policy”
and make recommendations for further improvement based
on investigation results.

Community Investment

Corporate Social Responsibility

As part of the strategic development, the Group is committed
to supporting the public means of social participation and
contribution, and to nurturing the corporate culture and
practices of corporate citizen in our daily operation. The
Group aims to promote the stability of society, and support
underprivileged on rehabilitation to improve the quality of
life. The Group also focuses to inspire its employees towards
social welfare awareness. The Group embraces the human
capital into the social management strategies to sustain
our corporate social responsibility as a part of the strategic
development of the Group.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

BT & 3t 6 E B A MR A S
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE MEMBERS OF
HANDS FORM HOLDINGS LIMITED

EHEZERERQA
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hands Form
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 82 to 167, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
RV A EE S

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)
Key Audit Matter

BRETEE
Revenue recognition from provision of construction
services

RHUBRERBH W

We identified the revenue recognition from provision
of construction services as a key audit matter due to its
significance to the consolidated financial statements and
management’s estimate is involved in determining the revenue
when contract progresses.
EERRHEERBAGRERRARBERENFE EI
EHUHGAVBRREREXABESETHOKER
@Y REREMMHE -

The accounting policy, accounting estimate and disclosure
for revenue are disclosed in Note 3, Note 4 and Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

R - it et RINERBER G E B HRRAMEES -
W%4&WES¢&%O

Independent Auditors’ Report
ERVE A ElE S

ERETSIE (R
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EEETHNETNAREEARENSE

Our audit procedures in relation to revenue recognition from
provision of construction services mainly included:

EEARRMEERBNNERANBTEFTI2EEN
-k

o Obtaining an understanding on how the management
recognises the revenue from the provision of
construction services and how the total budget costs
are determined;
TREBERARMHEBERBASRENTEAR
BEERAEENA

o Agreeing the project contract sum to signed contracts
and variation orders, if any;
ZHBBANEREEEANARIREEZFE< (W
B):
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Independent Auditors’ Report
RV A EE S

Key Audit Matters (Continued) FARETEIE (&)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BRETEE EEFETHETNNEEFRRETSE
Revenue recognition from provision of construction

services (Continued)

RHUBRERBH KSR (F)

o Assessing the accuracy of the actual total costs
incurred for the year by checking against the payment
certificates or invoices issued by the subcontractors and
suppliers, on a sample basis;

MRS R REER L AN RERARERIN
FHEARFEEELRBRNARNEREME ;

J Checking the total budget costs by inspecting the
underlying contracts and correspondence with
subcontractors and suppliers, on a sample basis, of
individual projects and understanding the causes for
significant variances, if any, made to these budgets
during the year;
FRMEESEMNEENEREAKES
HEFMBMNZERBERA - T &
BEFARREAZENRE (0EF)

@ﬁ
X%

A

4H*

J Evaluating the reliability of the management’s
estimation by comparing their budget costs to actual
costs on completed projects, on a sample basis; and
FRMEREREREREKANEE T TEANER
BXAS - FHEE R BRI EN 0 &

o Assessing the accuracy of revenue recognised for
the year by recalculating the revenue based on the
percentage of completion of the contract based on the
input method.

FRBRER ALERAEENRGHNTHKE D LA
7 0 AL F E R R B R
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)
Key Audit Matter

BARESEE
Impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract

assets

BEZRURARSNEE ZBERH

We identified the impairment assessment of trade receivables
and contract assets as a key audit matter due to its significance
to the consolidated financial statements and management'’s
estimate is involved in determining the impairment of trade
receivables and contract assets.
EEHEZHRYFIARASNEE ZRENEHEMNABRE
AEREE AREMGEMBEREMEBEARETE HIE
WHIE R & B ERRER S R EREMNMET

The accounting policy, accounting estimate and disclosures
for the impairment of trade receivables and contract assets
are disclosed in Note 3, Note 4, Note 14 and Note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

GETHGR - Gt B ZRWFIARE N EE ZMER
BEMAEMEMERMMES - M4 14 RME 164
WEE -

Independent Auditors’ Report
ERVE A ElE S

ERETSIE (R
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EEETHNETNAREEARENSE

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
trade receivables and contract assets mainly included:

EERHEHRWFIAREHNEE RENENETIERF
FTEBREUATEAE
o Obtaining an understanding on how the management

assess the expected credit losses for trade receivables
and contract assets;

THREBENMANHESRKRFIERENEENTE
HEEER
o Testing the integrity of information used by

management for the assessment, including ageing
analysis of trade receivables, on a sample basis, by
comparing individual items in the analysis with the
relevant underlying documents;

mERAEEERFEARER (RRRE SRR

BREEONT) 2 T8I - BB S8R E1E B 848
B SCHEITHER
J Testing, on a sample basis, the collection of receivables

after the year end from the customers;

TR F RIZ U Z P YR 80 8 LR IR
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Independent Auditors’ Report
RV A EE S

Key Audit Matters (Continued)
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BEFETER EEFETHETNNEEFRRETSE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract

assets (Continued)

BEZRWRARSNEE 2 BEN (&)

o Assessing the reasonableness of the basis and
judgement of the management in determining credit
loss allowance on trade receivables and contract assets;
and
MEEREEETESRRFERENEENEE
BIRRERITRE R HENSET &

o Testing the key data sources applied in the expected
credit losses computation, on a sample basis, by
checking to the supporting information and external
data sources, as applicable.

FIRRE B E R RINBERIR (WER) -
ABAHTEREE BT EPER 2 BREBIR
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Other Matter

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2019 were audited by another auditor who expressed an
unmodified opinion on those consolidated financial statements on 27
March 2020.

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.
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RV A EE S

Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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RV A EE S

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that

we identify during our audit.
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’
report is Mr. Kwok Kin Leung.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Kin Leung
Practising Certificate Number: P05769

Hong Kong, 24 March 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Are1Bm M E A 2 W

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—T T F+ A =1+—HILFE

2020 2019
—E_EF —E-NF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
P 5T FAETT FET
Revenue Wz 5 304,965 558,137
Cost of services BRAG R AN (301,162) (487,954)
Gross profit EF 3,803 70,183
Other income E g A 6 13,455 359
(Allowance for)/reversal of BEETE (B ) D
impairment losses (340) 127
Administrative expenses TE R (9,559) (8,964)
Finance costs BB AR 7 (382) (260)
Listing expenses siils=Fa - (17,586)
Profit before tax BRI a A 8 6,977 43,859
Income tax credit/(expense) FriSRiiEe,/ (Bx) 9 392 (8,033)
Profit and total comprehensive FREMNREE RS ERE
income for the year 7,369 35,826
Earnings per share BRAN
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) - AR #E CB(l) 12 0.28 1.63

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
ra B AOR 2R

As at 31 December 2020 R=ZZE_EF+_-_A=+—H

2020 2019
—E-EF ZE-NF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 FET FET
Non-current assets EMBNVEE
Property, plant and equipment M - WE &R 13 11,540 11,174
Deposit for acquisition of property, WY - BB REEZe
plant and equipment . - 2,745
Deferred tax assets BIETRIE A B 20 75 -
11,615 13,919
Current assets MENE B
Trade receivables 2 5N FIA 14 9,898 28,158
Other receivables, deposits and HAbEWRIE -~ 1Re
prepayments SSEUNESE 15 41,788 65,044
Contract assets BHEE 16 179,152 130,126
Tax recoverable AU EI I8 120 -
Pledged bank deposit SIEIRERITIFR 17 5,000 -
Bank balances and cash SRITHEB NI S 17 5,945 24,696
241,903 248,024
Total assets BEE 253,518 261,943
Current liabilities mBAE
Trade and other payables %%&Hﬁﬂfﬁm 18 6,697 19,742
Contract liabilities ’]Ef% 16 87 2,165
Income tax payable Fiﬁﬁﬁ S - 14,514
Bank overdrafts RITEX 19 21 3,815
Bank borrowings RITREK 19 17,785 -
24,590 40,236
Net current assets mEEEFE 217,313 207,788
Total assets less current liabilities wEERREAE 228,928 221,707
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Deferred tax liabilities FIETIEA & 20 122 270
Net assets BEFE 228,806 221,437
Capital and reserves BARR
Equity attributable to owners RARER NSRS
of the Company
Share capital PR 21 26,000 26,000
Reserves G 202,806 195,437
Total equity fatEm 228,806 221,437
The consolidated financial statements on pages 82 to 167 were approved  HRE BEZ 167 EMGREM B WMEN_-F

TF-ACtTHAEEES A R ER
o WHATEERREFERE

and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2021 and
signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam Mr. Ma Kan Sun

REIE 4 BREALE
Director Director
= =

BEM P EERR AL TR A M IS R M AR R

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Conso
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -—TF+ - A=+—HILtFE

idated Statement of Changes in Equity

Share Share Other Retained
capital premium reserve profits Total
BRA REE HivkiE REBER “ct
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2019 R=Z—NF—H—H 600 = = 75,401 76,001
Profit and total comprehensive income EREFREAKREE
for the year - - - 35,826 35,826
Effect of reorganisation (Note a) BANTE (FiEa) (600) = 600 = =
Issue of shares under the BEEXRET
Capitalisation Issue* (Note 21(c)) Bl * (F3E2100) 19,500 (19,500) - - -
Issue of shares under BERHEE
the Share Offer* (Note 21(d)) Bi7itn * (B 21(d) 6,500 123,500 = - 130,000
Transaction cost attributable BITHROEER ZHA
to issue of new shares - (20,390) - - (20,390)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+ZA=+—H 26,000 83,610 600 111,227 221,437
Profit and total comprehensive EREFREZAKREE
income for the year - - - 7,369 7,369
At 31 December 2020 R-EZEBF+-A=1-H 26,000 83,610 600 118,596 228,806
* Both of which are defined in Note 21. *EERHRME21 -
Note: BisE
a. As part of the Reorganisation (as defined and detailed in Note 1) and in streamlining the a. T’F?%E%ﬁ( EERFBELMFNH D RAEE

group structure, Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam (“Mr. Adam Cheung”) and Ms. Cheung Lai
Chun (“Ms. LC Cheung”) transferred their entire equity interest in Pak Fai Engineering
Limited (“Pak Fai”) to Creative Panda Limited (" Creative Panda”) in consideration for Creative
Panda allotting and issuing 1 ordinary share to Autumn Well Limited (“Autumn Well”), and
transferred their entire equity interest in Ma Yau Engineering Limited (“Ma Yau”) to Vantage
Charm Limited (“Vantage Charm”) in consideration for Vantage Charm allotting and issuing
1 ordinary share to Autumn Well.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.

R WEIR P - 5T K Creative Panda Limited
(fCreatwe Panda ) Bit 2 K %17 1 % 3 i@ A% T Autumn
Well Limited ([Autumn Well|) » 55 B #8 % 4 ([ 3k %&
E)REBEZT (Rt ) BRESHEBIRE
FRA R ([1818 ]) K2 5PA%#E T Creative Panda RA&S5T &
Vantage Charm Limited ([ Vantage Charm ) B2 % f2 317
1RE BT Autumn Well » FEEZENERIREER
AR ([FR])H 2 EBAHE T Vantage Charm ©

BEFM BT RERB A% T 4R & B 5 3R AR A AR AR 2D ©
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

SARERER
meRenE
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—E-—ZEF+ - A=+—HILFE
2020 2019
—E-EHF ZE-NF
HK$ '000 HK$'000
FHET T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KEEE)
Profit before tax FﬁRHU/ﬁJU 6,977 43,859
Adjustments for: R
— Depreciation of property, plant - - BELRERTE
and equipment . 1,862 795
— Loss on disposals of property, - HEWE - BELKXREBE
plant and equipment 118 -
— Allowance for/(reversal of) impairment losses - JRi{E/ES 1, () 340 (127)
— Finance costs - BRERA 382 260
Operating cash flows before movements EEEPHAIKERenE
in working capital 9,679 44,787
Decrease in trade receivables ’f@’f%ﬁ%ﬂﬁl%ﬁlﬁfﬁ L 18,211 3,277
Decrease/(increase) in other receivables, HADREURIA - B RIS
deposits and prepayments A (&) 23,349 (61,539)
Increase in contract assets DHBER (49,317) (46,641)
Decrease in contract liabilities aHaERL (2,078) (572)
Decrease in trade and other payables E 5 K H b S 5B R (13,045) (34,843)
Cash used in operations R=mAR S (13,201) (95,531)
Income tax paid BEATFTERL (14,468) (256)
Income tax refunded RBIFTFHR 3 311
Interest paid EASHLE (40) (260)
Net cash used in operating activities K TRENFT IR & F 58 (27,706) (95,736)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEES
Increase in pledged bank deposit BRI ERIT I RIS AN (5,000) =
Repayment from a director —BEEHEN ) - 16,149
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWZE - BE R&EB 215508
plant and equipment 306 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE  WENREE = (4,051)
Payment for deposit for acquisition of property, SZ{fUREE¥E - WE MR\ LS
plant and equipment - (2,745)
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities BEEE(FTA) PSR (4,694) 9,353
FINANCING ACTIVITIES P‘f‘jﬂﬁ}ﬁ@]
Proceeds from Share Offer Eﬁfﬁ%’%ﬁﬂ%?&(lﬁ - 130,000
New bank borrowings raised HEIRIRITIEK 21,708 25,000
Repayments of bank borrowings ERIRITIE (3,923) (30,209)
Issue costs paid BATEEITRA - (20,075)
Interest paid EAFLE (342) =
Repayments of bank overdrafts BERITES (3,794) (11,760)
Net cash generated from financing activities BE BB e S 13,649 92,956
NET (DECREASEYINCREASE IN CASH AND ReRASEEY (RD)  HIFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (18,751) 6,573
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FURe MReEEY
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR, BIRTTHES AR S
represented by bank balances and cash 24,696 18,123
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRESMREEEY
THE END OF THE YEAR, BIRTTHEM AR S
represented by bank balances and cash 5,945 24,696

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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General Information, Reorganisation and
Basis of Preparation and Presentation of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Hands Form Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company and registered in
the Cayman Islands with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap.22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands on 30 January 2019. Its immediate and ultimate holding
company is Wonderful Renown Limited (“Wonderful Renown”),
a private limited company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(“BVI"). The controlling shareholders of the Company are Mr. Adam
Cheung, Ms. LC Cheung and Wonderful Renown.

The address of the registered office of the Company is Windward
3, Regatta Office Park, PO. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108,
Cayman Islands and the address of the principal place of business
is Room 9, 2/F Hang Bong Commercial Centre, 28 Shanghai Street,
Jordan, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

In preparation of the proposed listing of the Company’s shares
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”), the companies now comprising the
Group have completed a reorganisation on 28 February 2019 (the
"Reorganisation”), pursuant to which the Company became the
holding company of the companies now comprising the Group on
28 February 2019.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred as to the
“Group”) resulting from the Reorganisation is regarded as a
continuing entity. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the basis as if the Company had always been the
holding company of the companies now comprising the Group
throughout the year ended 31 December 2019.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—T T F+ A =1+—HILFE

—RER - EARGEYH
BROmRKREFEE

EHREERBRAR(TARRDR=F
—NF—RA=THREREHEZ0ZE
RE(—NAR—FFBI3FEH &E 0
RAEE]) REVEER S B S s A2
BHREHRERERAR - EEER&K
2= {% /A &) & Wonderful Renown Limited
(TWonderful Renown] » — [ #£ 2% /& B2
ZHE((RBERHSE ) Mz 2
ABRRATF]) o« RATMIERRR BRE
4~ 5k 221 & Wonderful Renown °

N2 A B 5 3 == 6T 41k 43 Windward
3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350,
Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman
Islands T 3 2 & FE B AE BEE N
BEER HBE 285 E A EF L2189

)
£z -°

REBARRNTRNMREBBERIME
RAR ([BRAT)) ERMEZ LT @+ &
SEBEKETARER=ZZ—NLF=A
ZHNBEREA(EA] Bt &
AREIRZZE-NFAZTN\BRKBR
EEIREFE T RARIAIEIRAF]

ARAREWMB AR (G AEE )
REAMAR  HRA—EAFELLE
B REMBRRIDERARRNEE
—E-NFTRA=t—HILFE—H
RARBRKET A RER AR Z R
B TE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire ISR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE T F+ - HA=+—HILFE

General Information, Reorganisation and
Basis of Preparation and Presentation of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange on 16 August 2019.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on
the accounting policies set out in Note 3 which conform with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), and the
principles of common control combination have been applied for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2019. The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note
27.

EREZERABRAT 2020 F5H

—RER - EARGEYH
BRWERE 25 B2 (&)

RRARIRHERZZE—NENATKHE
RSP ER BT -

REEBE_T-NFT+_A=1T—H
I FERNGEMBRE  REUBHHRE
EREBMEIMSEESSTRAR([E
BEFAAE ) BHOBEMBHREE
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BRI FE A A RIEHIE SR AT LA MR
Bl o A MIERERIAKRRA R RE RS
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ARAFB—HEIREZER AR - MARA]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ST e B RS R R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =TT F+ - A =1+—HILFE

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and
the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

The application of the Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards and the amendments to HKFRSs
in the current year had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

R REBIEEBMH
BEEA(EEMBREE
U

RAFEBRHERZEETE
B RS ZEA

RAFE  AKEECEXEREEHE
e ER P R E RN Z1EET A B IA
THEBSMAGRM ZLEFTER
B mERER  ER T _TF—H—
B sk 2 &FA 2 FRHIRR B AR - 1A
IREUREMTEHREK

BREEEER BEVER
£15R

BAEER
F8FZEFTA

BN BRE ¥BITER
HERISE 355

ZAEETA

BBMBRE Fl R E o
AR 95K -

BAGR2EA
FIHEREE

B e 22
BTHZIETTA

NEZRRAEEHHHEERFL2EH
BERZ BT A RBIER] BB B RS
FRNWEBHAEERNAFERBEFE
ZHBHRRRRBAR, XL EEQ M
WRAE B EEREKEAIERTE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE T F+ - HA=+—HILFE

Application of New and Amendments to

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

EREZERABRAT 2020 F5H

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments'

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions*

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2°

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)'

R REBIEEBMH
BEEA(EEMBREE
81 1) (&)

© 78 5 B 1] oK 4 3% 2 #7R] B 4L
BRI B BB EER

742 B3 42 A1 P8 B T3 B AR A1 14 R
LR RSB T BB B REE
Al :

EBUHREER RBREOK
E17% FRRAEE]
EBTEREER Covid-1918EHAS
E16FZIERTA ER
EBMHRELER 2ERSIELR?
F 3G 2ERIA

EAPEHREER FEREERE

Eo B —F S
FETERIZE 395
- BB ERE
EHFE 75 B
B ERE ZE R
FBAFRES
B SRS £E R
F165 BRI A
BAVBHREEN REFHEERE
F10ERES RERAEDE
SETERIF 285 HESEAEE?
ZABET AR
HAEGFHER| HEBERRE
FVR2BEIR  FSERBRES
ZEE SR
(ZZ=ZF)
ZIBEHERT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ST e B RS R R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =TT F+ - A =1+—HILFE

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments

to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective: (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before
Intended Use?
Onerous Contracts
— Cost of Fulfilling a Contract?
Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020?

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all

new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on

the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

R REBIEEBMH
BEEA(EEMBREE
81 1) (&)

© 78 B 1] oK 4 3% 2 #TR] R 4L
BRI &AM B R EZEA (&)
742 B3 42 A1 P8 B T3 B AR A1 14 R
LR RSB T BB B REE
8l : (4)

Hrogst Al YE NI G

FI6RMERTA - BEREATH
PSSR
Hoast %R BEAH - BT
FITH/ERTAR BRI
FEUHREEN —FT-N\F=E
ZAEFTAR —TTFREE

HMEBUBRE

ZEBI|F E A 2

! RZB-_=F— A BRZEFIENFEN

fRIAERR

2 RE-B- —F— A BRZEFIENFER
fAIAERR

3 RS EEE 2 B Eisk 2 1% Fta e 4 B A2 K

¢ RZF_TFRNA—BRZERFIENFER
IRk

> R-B-_—F— A BRZEFIENFER
fAIAERR

ARREERRY  HERRARERAME
el MRERIRAMBRE LGS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE T F+ - HA=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in
the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4 below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis at the end of each reporting period, as explained
in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

EREZERABRAT 2020 F5H

3.

EXREFHEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4 AR

ire SR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =TT F+ - A =1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS 16"), and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE T F+ - HA=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

EREZERABRAT 2020 F5H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—Z

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Merger accounting for business combination involving
businesses under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements items of the combining businesses in which the common
control combination occurs as if they had been combined from the
date when the combining businesses first came under the control of
the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining business are consolidated using
the existing book values from the controlling party’s perspective. No
amount is recognised in respect of goodwill or bargain purchase gain
at the time of common control combination.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income includes the results of each of the combining
businesses from the earliest date presented or since the date when
the combining businesses first came under the common control,
where this is a shorter period.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial statements
are presented as if the businesses had been combined at the
beginning of the previous reporting period or when they first came
under common control, whichever is shorter.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying
the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

F—BE T _H=1t—HILFE
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE T F+ - HA=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is

met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with

an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”). In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right
to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Specifically, revenue is recognised as follows:

Revenue from provision of wet trades works

The Group provides wet trades works (including plastering on floors,
walls and ceilings, tile laying on internal and external walls and
floors, brick laying and marble works) and other wet trades related
ancillary works under contracts with customers. Such contracts
are entered into before the services begin. Under the terms of the
contracts, the Group is contractually required to perform the services
at the customers’ specified sites that the Group's performance
creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs. Revenue from provision of such services is therefore
recognised over time using input method, i.e. based on the actual
costs incurred by the Group to date compared with the total
budgeted cost for the project to estimate the revenue recognised
during the period. The directors of the Company consider that input
method would faithfully depict the Group’s performance towards
complete satisfaction of these performance obligations under HKFRS
15.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease (Continued)

For contracts entered into or modified or after the date of initial
application or arising from business combinations, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also
applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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EXSFEE(A)
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(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring the
site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the
lease.

Except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets, the Group
recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the
lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of
the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)
The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in market rental
rates following a market rent review or expected payment
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease incentives
receivables, based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate
at the effective date of the modification.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.
When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received. Government grants are
recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under
“other income”.
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102

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF") Scheme are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries) after deduction of any amount already paid.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in

equity respectively.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group
considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority will
accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be use by
individual group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined consistently with the
tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the
relevant taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment,
the effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most
likely amount or the expected value.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building elements,
the entire consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial
recognition. To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-
of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-
lease building element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property, plant
and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets
are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-
generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a
group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the
group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4 AR

ire SR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =TT F+ - A =1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a
provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable
is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement
will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured
reliably.

EXSFEE(A)

Y% - BB K RERE (F)

R ERIE R EE - BE (HReEE
Bk —HRSELEMN) NREERE
MEE AW E & BHEIER] AaT - 1R
MENREENMSEBZEE (IREE
B —HEREEEEM) RBEFE
W ERERRERENERL NETAEE
HIBRE(E - R (E R E R B E BN 10 1R 2
MHER °

B
EAKEEBEFHMARERSER
CREiEE)  IRERER - A%E
MEARTHREL  ARET S ER
EEALTE

ERRBRENSRBIE AR EN
B & NHETE F =1 - MRS BRETT
BRETABREFELORERT -2
BRECARTREREEHANRESRE
AER HERHEARFRERENR
BE(HE¥NRHEEEXEBEAN) -

ERERET D R BB &
EHTEE =S K@E  HEE L#EE
1 A (B A Ko JE M IR & B8 R F] Se Rt
B - BIRMGRIBRERREE °

Hands Form Holdings Limited « Annual Report 2020



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire ISR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE T F+ - HA=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

EREZERABRAT 2020 F5H

3.

EXSFEE(A)

TRITH
TREENERABDINEBRERKR
TRAABHMBRXMRTNTRER - FIAR
REMEEEENR S AER R ILE
ReBRCHEEERERBENILER
KA BT 5 31 A 318 I 3% T BB IR A 32
NzEeMEE -

TRMEEREBABVNIRAFER
B ERPANELENE ZEWGIAET
TREBFEMEREERNESRKELE
Az TE - WERBRTEREENS
BAEBEUARATHEAABR EREESX
TRMBERIN ERBENRZKATIRN
MNEHERE > FATREEXTHAE
M AFEASKAERHER(ER) - I
BRAVEAABRZECHEELSR
BEERBAEZXBRANEREBERA
FERR.

BERMER AT ECHEEXTRAE
A B 55 R AN K 7 48 B B ] 0 B AL B A
RMBRAXNTE - BEREFNESNE R
EEISRAENEAFHL(ER)
B B A AT AS (A 5 R 2R IR & W A e A
R BREEXRERMNEERE—MONAE
ENXCRERRFEEE  XHRA
KB AR B SATR) ERERR IR E VSRR
FIRREFERILL R -

109



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ST e B RS R R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =TT F+ - A =1+—HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies 3. EXRSFBXE)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) SRT A (&)

Financial assets TREE

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets TREENSEREETE

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently e TolEG 2 & & B H & 1R A

measured at amortised cost: REHE -

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose . BETREENEHKEXBNRE
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and ABRBRAEHIBEERE &

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash . EHRBRFREEARHEEANE S
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the REEATNAERAEERE
principal amount outstanding. RS ©

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently FaTilGtzemEEAREATE

measured at fair value through other comprehensive income FAHMEEE ([1RAFETARM

("FVTOCI”): PEWE]FE

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose . FEaREENEBRXBNZE
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual AHERKBENREERE + &
cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash . SHRBRTREERHEANR S
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the NEERINAEASRREELRS
principal amount outstanding. LR ©

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL. FEEmEmEEHREATEGTAR

N
m °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020 EEZ—F

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost and
debt instruments/receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination that the asset is
no longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade receivables,
other receivables and deposits, pledged bank deposit and bank
balances) and contract assets which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ST e B RS R R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =TT F+ - A =1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments are
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets. The ECL on these assets is assessed individually for
debtors based on internal credit rating, the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial assets, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire ISR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE T F+ - HA=+—HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group

compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default

occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of

initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that

is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available without

undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account

when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

B SR AR AR

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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ire SR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =TT F+ - A =1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if
(i) it has a low risk of default (i.e. no default history), (ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a financial instrument to have low credit risk when
it has an internal or external credit rating of “investment
grade” as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE T F+ - HA=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable.

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

o information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =TT F+ - A =1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)
(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(0 the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over one year past due whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE T F+ - HA=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default
is based on historical data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not
yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the
following basis:

Nature of financial instruments;

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =TT F+ - A =1+—HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies 3.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar
credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables and contract
assets where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020 EEZ—F

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, bank
overdrafts and bank borrowings) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

EREZERABRAT 2020 F5H

3.

ire ISR RN

F_TE+_A=1t—HILLFE

EXSFEE(A)

/m\ DERZINEY &
= BRERAENK

% A%E AEBEHRMEaER
W§F¢%Eﬂ%%*MEHA%°$
N EEITH R T BRI A5 708

MR EEBITHA T AR -

SREE
B4 B (R 16 R A BRI
B AR A B o

BBHERATENERMEE

TREE(BRES MNEMENFIR - R
TTES MRITIEFR) R REMERF X
REHANGTE

RIEERSHEAE
EEEEASENSTEET - MR
BIHARS  AEBERIIEREMEE - K
ItERNSHMaERAGEED S REN
REZHHNEERBRER

119



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =TT F+ - A =1+—HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies 3.

(Continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control of the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other

entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(ivy  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;
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3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020 EEZ—F

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: (Continued)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies: (Continued)

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

(vii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ST e B RS R R AT

w3
For the

year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—Z

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

Revenue recognition from provision of
Construction Services (as defined in Note 5)
The Group recognises contract revenue and profit of Construction
Services according to the management's estimation of the total
outcome of the project as well as the progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation measured based on input
method. Notwithstanding that management reviews and revises the
estimates of both contract revenue and costs for the Construction
Services as the contract progresses, the actual outcome of the
contract in terms of its total revenue and costs may be higher or
lower than the estimates and this will affect the revenue and profit
recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire ISR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE T F+ - HA=+—HILFE

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables
and contract assets

The Group recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets using individual assessment, based on the internal credit
rating, the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date. The amount of the
impairment loss based on ECL model is measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition. Where the future cash flows are
less than expected, or being revised downward due to changes in
facts and circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ST e B RS R R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =TT F+ - A =1+—HILFE

(i)

(i)

Revenue and Segment Information 5. WKWERSIEHR
Revenue represents the fair value of amounts received and receivable W e IR RK TR SR ERE (B
from provision of construction services including wet trades works A - FEEERKIEHE - RINIBEEE K&
(including plastering on floors, walls and ceilings, tile laying on HEEY RS  WEREATR) KEAM
internal and external walls and floors, brick laying and marble TeKAEEREE TR (RERE ] HE IR
works) and other wet trades related ancillary works (“Construction KWK 2 A FE -
Services”).
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts () BF&EXNWRSE
with customers
2020 2019
—ECEF —T-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Type of service I8 % kid)
Construction Services EERE 304,965 558,137
Type of customer BEFER
Private sector projects FL S RIIE B 304,904 555,552
Public sector projects NERFITEE 61 2,585
304,965 558,137
Performance obligations for contracts with (i) BEEAXHWES(E

customers

The Group derives its revenue from provision of wet trades works
and other wet trades related ancillary works and are recognised
over time. All the Group’s services are rendered directly with the
customers. Contracts with the Group’s customers are agreed in fixed-
price with terms from 1 month to 33 months.

Details of the Group’s performance obligation in contracts with
customers are described in Note 3.

AEE B ERHAEKTREREAMEK
MBEEE T RETERS W - YR EE
R AEBEZRATPRHEMB RS
AEBEPEHNTIREEERWE @ &
H1EAE33MEA -

REBNEFENBOEEFRNHE
3o
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(iii)

(iv)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire ISR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE T F+ - HA=+—HILFE

Revenue and Segment Information
(Continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers that remain outstanding as at
reporting date and the expected timing of
recognising revenue are set out as below:

5.

(iii)

Wk o ERER ()

TREFFEX (RIS BB
RFEMR) BT BOEEHKZE
K T8 AT R U 2 HY B FE 3 51 40
T

2020 2019
—E_EF —ZE-NAF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FETL
Provision of wet trades works RARAKIRE

— Within one year -—FR 46,519 133,674

— More than one year but not more than - BB —FETBBME
two years - 24,720
46,519 158,394

Segment information

Information is reported to the executive directors of the Company,
who are also the chief operating decision maker (“CODM") of the
Group, for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment. The CODM reviews the overall results and financial
performance of the Group as a whole. No analysis of the Group’s
results, assets or liabilities and no discrete financial information
is regularly provided to the CODM. Accordingly, only entity-
wide disclosures on revenue, major customers and geographical
information are presented in accordance with HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments.

The accounting policies for segment information are the same as
Group’s accounting policies described in Note 3.

EREZERABRAT 2020 F5H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ST e B RS R R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =TT F+ - A =1+—HILFE

5. Revenue and Segment Information 5. WEKkoHEHR (F)

(Continued)
(v) Geographical information (v) BEBiEER
The Group principally operates in Hong Kong, which is also its place AEETERBEB(MAEREM) KL
of domicile. The Group’s non-current assets are all located in Hong 55 o REBEZIERBEEDURES -
Kong.
(vi) Information about major customers (vi) BBEEEEFNESR
Revenue from customers individually contributing over 10% of the FR- REEMNERNEEZE KRR BB
total revenue of the Group during the year are as follows: 10% R P HIKEIT
2020 2019
—ECEF —T-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Customer | EPI 122,749 N/ATE A
Customer |l ZEI 68,458 331,949
Customer Il ZAI 64,075 92,057
L Revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the g HE R M P S R ARG AN S B B s I R
corresponding reporting period. B 10% °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ire ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—ZE—ZEF+ - A=+—HILFE

6. Other Income 6. HA
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$000
FETT FET
Interest income FLEWA 48 180
Sundry income FETEWA 212 179
Rental income AU A 128 -
Government subsidies (Note) BB (M1EE) 13,067 =
13,455 359
Note:  The Group recognised government subsidies in respect of the Employment Support MizE : AEEERESFEEBTERECOVID-19%1F
Scheme and Employment Support Scheme for the Construction Sector under MERAPRITERESET R ] T8I RE
Anti-epidemic Fund of the Hong Kong SAR Government due to the COVID-19 EZ (R ] FHEIM BB o
pandemic.
7. Finance Costs 7. BERK
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-hEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Interest on ATEIE 2 FILE
— Bank overdrafts - RITEL 40 71
— Bank borrowings — BRITIER 342 189
382 260

EREZERABRAT 2020 F5H



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire SR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =TT F+ - A =1+—HILFE

8. Profit Before Tax BRHE A2 R
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET
Profit before tax has been arrived R A& A1 T A H kR
at after charging: AT BIABER
Auditors’ remuneration % BRI 5 B 830 2,610
Depreciation of property, plant M - BERREITE
and equipment
— Recognised as cost of services - BERBRISH AR 1,293 536
— Recognised as administrative expenses - R AITBFAX 569 259
Total depreciation hems 1,862 795
Directors’ emoluments (Note 10) EEML (HFE10) 2,188 2,110
Other staff costs HAth 8 TpA
— Salaries and other benefits - e MEMET 9,744 13,694
— Contributions to retirement benefit — RREFIFTEIHE
scheme 338 538
12,270 16,342
Loss on disposals of property, HEME  BE KR EEE
plant and equipment 118 -
Cost of materials and toolings TR A RIEE AR
recognised as cost of services KT ERAK 2,016 16,971

Subcontracting fees recognised BERERBA AN D BEE R

as cost of services 279,871 446,972
Rental expense on short-term leases BE - AYE RS

in respect of warehouse, RERENHeRX

office premises and machines 1,332 2,195
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire ISR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE T F+ - HA=+—HILFE

Income Tax (Credit)/Expense Frie®i (%) BAxX
2020 2019
—BCEH —T-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Income tax (credit)/expense comprises: Frigfi (e ) X 84E
Hong Kong Profits Tax: EBNER
— Current year -KEE - 9,824
— Over-provision in prior years - BEFEBERE (169) (1,935)
(169) 7,889
Deferred tax (Note 20): FEIEFETE (FIFE 20) - (223) 144
(392) 8,033
On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The RZZE-—N\F=A=Z+—8  FBFLE

Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000
of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits
of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group
has no assessable profits derived from or arising in Hong Kong
during the year ended 31 December 2020.

The two-tiered profits tax rates regime was applicable to the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

EREZERABRAT 2020 F5H

2@ BQ17TFHBE(BET) (F79%) 1§
BIERY(MEBIEZR]) - SIAFIEBIMRAR
H o EPERR-_BE—NEFE=A=1+N\
HEFEREEE TRBEAE R
BRENRMAE  cEBSEEET
JH B 2,000,000 7T £ 8.25% 2 Bt E
#NFH I8 - i 838 2,000,000 78 T 2 F 8
1512 16.5% 2 R BMTLIE - RFEFEF|
SHMARG B E B HGEELRS
— R 16.5% BHANFRIA ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Re SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—E-—TF+ - A=+—HILFE

9. Income Tax (Credit)/Expense (Continued) 9.

The income tax (credit)/expense for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

Fre®t (%) B (&

FEMSH(KE) HAXBEEER
e L Ath 2 TED A 2 2 A BR A5 AR A4 36 BR 40
T

2020 2019
gt 222 —ZE-NF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FEr
Profit before tax BrE A A A 6,977 43,859
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of BREBNEHNE16.5%
16.5% (2019: 16.5%) —ZF—NF :16.5%)
FTEMTIIE 1,151 7,237
Tax effect of income not taxable BERBUMAN TG E
for tax purpose (2,164) (55)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AR BE R E
for tax purpose 58 2,951
Tax effect of temporary difference RERE R ZRENT BT E (201) =
not recognised
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ANERTIEBENT T E 933 -
Over-provision in prior years B FERERRE (169) (1,935)
Tax effect on two-tiered tax rates AR I R B R o B - (165)
Income tax (credit)/expense for the year FREH (ER) Fx (392) 8,033
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE T F+ - HA=+—HILFE

10. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s 10. EERBETHRAEMER
Emoluments and Employees’ ETME
Emoluments
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments EERESTRAEME
Mr. Adam Cheung, Mr. Ng Sheung Chung and Mr. Ma Kan Sun RAEL - HRBEEERERBAEERZ
were appointed as executive directors of the Company on 30 T-NF—A=tRHEZEAEXRTHR
January 2019. Mr. Pak Shek Kuen, Mr. Lo Chi Hung and Mr. Ho TES - gL EEHEEERM
Kwok Lung were appointed as independent non-executive directors BEELAERN-_ZT-NFLtA=-+—H%E
of the Company on 21 July 2019. ZERRARBIUIERITES -
The emoluments paid or payable to the directors and chief executive ARAEBNERBENKENAARE
of the Company (including emoluments for services as employees/ ERESTHRABNME (BERKAR
directors of the Group prior to becoming the directors of the RRAEFIEAAEBERE "EFEMH
Company) by entities comprising the Group are as follows: FRIGEVENE) AT -
Salaries Contributions
and Discretionary to retirement
Fees allowances bonuses  benefit scheme Total
e FeRER MERL  BIENHEER a3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FiEr T Tin Tin Tin
For the year ended HE-Z-ZF
31 December 2020 TZAZt-HLEE
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Adam Cheung RELE - 720 - 18 738
Mr. Ng Sheung Chung R4 - 504 50 18 572
Mr. Ma Kan Sun SRALE - 357 28 18 403
Non-executive director *HTES
Mr. Chong Kan Kin (Note (i) EYRTE(ER() 91 = = = 91
Independent non-executive ~ BUKHTES
directors
Mr. Pak Shek Kuen BHEEE 136 - - - 136
Mr. Lo Chi Hung by it 136 - - - 136
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung (BB 12 - - - 112
475 1,581 78 54 2,188

EREZERABRAT 2020 F5H
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ire SR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =TT F+ - A =1+—HILFE

- . L) = /4= =
10. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s 10. EERBETHRAEMER

Emoluments and Employees’ ETM<E (&)

Emoluments (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments EERESITHRAEME (&)

(Continued)

Salaries Contributions

and Discretionary to retirement
Fees allowances bonuses benefit scheme Total
ik Fa ke RERA  RINEGEIER @t
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT FET TAT AT

For the year ended BEZE-NE
31 December 2019 TZA=T—RIEE

Executive directors BITES

Mr. Adam Cheung REE 270 445 - 18 733

Mr. Ng Sheung Chung il 189 312 300 18 819

Mr. Ma Kan Sun SREALE 124 204 60 17 405

Independent non-executive ~ BUXHTEES

directors

Mr. Pak Shek Kuen AHELE 54 - - - 54

Mr. Lo Chi Hung BHELE 54 - - - 54

Mr. Ho Kwok Lung G 45 - - - 45

736 %61 360 53 2,110

Notes: Bt 5E

(i) Mr. Chong Kan Kin was appointed as an non-executive director on 24 April 2020. (i) EHRAEN T _TFNA-_FTHOARE

ERRARERITES -

(i) Mr. Adam Cheung acts as chief executive of the Company with effect from 22 July (i) REEABZZE-NFLtAZ+TZHEEER
2019 and his emoluments disclosed above included those for services rendered by ARIEEITHAL « EXFEEENSEE
him as the chief executive in management of the affairs of the Group. HEREBAEEEHNERITHRABMR

HRISH B S -

(iii) The discretionary bonus is determined by reference to the duties and responsibilities (iii) BIEA L2 ZHBA TR ASBENBE
of the relevant individual within the Group and the Group’s performance. REEARAEBNHRBEEE -

(iv) No other retirement benefits were paid to directors in respect of their respective (iv) MEREEZAABEARRIKNENB AR
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or its T ) 2 7% B IR AR A ) AR %5 1 [m) 1% 5 S A5 LA
subsidiaries undertaking. RIRFEF ©

(v) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in (v) FRITEENE ABREFBAR R RASE
connection with the management affairs of the Company and the Group. EEEEEARGEIE o

(vi) The non-executive director and independent non-executive directors’ emoluments (vi) LHERITEE R B IERTEEHE AR

132

shown above were for their services as directors of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE T F+ - HA=+—HILFE

10. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s

Emoluments and Employees’
Emoluments (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office. Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors
has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
included two directors (2019: two directors), details of whose
emoluments are disclosed above.

EREZERABRAT 2020 F5H

10.

EERBSTBRAEMER
ETM<E (&)

EERESTHAEME ()

REBEZ-ZT-_TFR-_FT-NLF+=A
=+—HIEFE rEEHMERESES
NEMME - ERIMAREEZRMA
REBEERNEESEEBAEE REEZ
ToEFR-F-NAFTA=1T—8
LEFE BESRTBRABRANES
WEXFRBHRETAEE

BTME

RER  AEBREARSHFALTBER
RER(CTNF MRESR)  KE
ZBHE FHER LB -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =TT F+ - A =1+—HILFE

The emoluments in respect of the remaining three (2019: three)
highest paid individuals during the year are as follows:

10. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s 10. EERBETHRAEMER
Emoluments and Employees’ ETM<E (&)
Emoluments (Continued)

Employees’ emoluments (Continued) ETME (&)

RER - BBESH=2(ZT-NF: =
HIRSBHFALTZHEHOT :

2020 2019
—ECEF —E-hEF
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FET

Salaries, allowances and discretionary e R REIETEA
bonuses 2,105 2,189

Contributions to retirement benefit RIREFIET IR

scheme 36 36
2,141 2,225

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the emoluments of the
five highest paid individuals including two (2019: two) directors, are
within following band:

REBE-_ZE-_FTF+_A=+—HIF
B Admzeg AT (BEME(ZE
—NF:MZ)EF) ZMEN T UATE
& :

Number of individuals

A
2020 2019
—B-EF —TNF
Emolument band 2 #0/E
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 2% 1,000,000 % 7T 5 5

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no
emoluments was paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals of the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the
directors of the Company or any of the five highest paid individuals
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019.

REBE-ZZ_TFER=_FT—NF+=A
=+ —BIEFE AEEHERAEE
FEEEHFATHFOERNALTINERA
e EAMAREB KR MARE
EEHREBEBAEE REE=T =
EER-_ZT-NAF+-_A=+—HLHF
B ARRZEESREREFALFN
FHATHEREXRERETAE
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ire ISR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—ZE—ZEF+ - A=+—HILFE

11. Dividends 11.

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2020, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2019:
Nil).

12. Earnings Per Share 12

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to owners
of the Company is based on the following data:

Hﬁ /%\

REBEE_ZT - ZF+_A=t—HIFE
A AREIBHERE R R MR
BB EFRE - BREMERERER
E=9le ?’“‘T{ﬂﬂxg(ff NE &) -

BREFN

AHEAREEEAREERERANT]
ERIATEUE -

2020 2019
g %3 —T-NEF
Earnings BRI
Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings RRFTEERERZNHAF
per share (profit for the year attributable (KRR ARBIEFREHN)
to owners of the Company) (HK$’'000) (F#ET) 7,369 35,826
2020 2019
Number of shares R EE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ~ FARFEEREREFH
for the purpose of basic earnings per share AR hNtE 9 2L
(in thousand) (Fh%) 2,600,000 2,195,753

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of
basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2020 was
derived from 2,600,000,000 ordinary shares in issue.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose
of basic earnings per share during the year ended 31 December
2019 are retrospectively adjusted based on the Reorganisation as
described in Note 1 and taking into account the effect arising from
Capitalisation Issue as defined and described in Note 21(c).

No diluted earnings per share is presented as there were no potential
dilutive shares in issue for the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019.

EREZERABRAT 2020 F5H
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =TT F+ - A =1+—HILFE

13. Property, Plant and Equipment 13. Y% - BERRE

Leasehold Machinery
land and and Office
buildings Fixtures  equipment  equipment Total
HELH
REF ®E BERRE WARME @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FE FET FET FET FET
Cost A
At 1 January 2019 RZZ-NF
—H—H 8,029 147 2,655 65 10,896
Additions NE - 2,041 2,010 - 4,051
Written off i - - (138) = (138)
At 31 December 2019 RZE—NF
+-A=t+—~H 8,029 2,188 4,527 65 14,809
Additions NE = = 2,652 - 2,652
Disposals HeE - - (1,237) = (1,237)
At 31 December 2020 R-BZBF
+=R=+-H 8,029 2,188 5,942 65 16,224
Accumulated depreciation RiHE
At 1 January 2019 RZE-I%F
—A—H 1,387 116 1,410 65 2,978
Charge for the year FRAE 160 99 536 - 795
Written off i - - (138) = (138)
At 31 December 2019 RZZ—NF
+-A=1+—H 1,547 215 1,808 65 3,635
Charge for the year FRFEY 160 409 1,293 = 1,862
Disposals HE - - (813) = (813)
At 31 December 2020 R-B-%Bf
+=A=+-A 1,707 624 2,288 65 4,684
Carrying values BEE
At 31 December 2020 RZBZEF
+=A=+-A 6,322 1,564 3,654 - 11,540
At 31 December 2019 AZE—N&F
+-A=+—H 6,482 1,973 2,719 - 11,174
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ire ISR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE T F+ - HA=+—HILFE

13. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 13.
The above items of property, plant and equipment, after taking into
account the residual values, are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the following useful lives:
Leasehold land and buildings 50 years
Fixtures Shorter of 5 years and
lease term
Machinery and equipment 4 years
Office equipment 5 years
14. Trade Receivables 14.
Trade receivables, net H 5 WG TR

% - BB RRE (&)

FitZ - BERFREBEE S RARE
B RAEREEIERFEHFAESR
=

HELTHRIEF 505
g 54 M EHA
(ABIE & A%E)
G N 44
BENST Bl
g S EWFIE
2020 2019
—EB-FF —TNEF
HKS$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
9,898 28,158

As at 1 January 2019, trade receivables at net arising from contracts
with customers amounted to approximately HK$31,189,000.

The Group grants credit terms to customers for a period ranging
from 17 — 60 days from the invoice date for trade receivables. The
following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net of impairment
loss allowance, presented based on the invoice date at the end of
the reporting period:

RZEBE—NF—A—H KEEFPAELOZ
B S IEWGIEFE84)/431,189,00078 7T °

AEEREFETZEENBEEZEK
REZEZAHENFTI17E60K A
TARESEWFIE (NBRREEERE)
R EEBRIBBEEZAMBHZMNRER S
T -

2020 2019

—ECEF —T-NEF

HK$000 HK$°000

FHET FET

Within 30 days 30ERA 8,898 20,524
31 days to 60 days 31 HE60H 291 7,634
61 days to 90 days 61HZ90H - =
Over 90 days B3390 H 709 -
9,898 28,158

EREZERABRAT 2020 F5H
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w3
For the

14.

year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—Z

Trade Receivables (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount
of approximately HK$1,000,000 (2019: HK$7,638,000) which are
past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
HK$709,000 (2019: Nil) has been past due 90 days or more and is
not considered as in default based on good payment history and
the Group is still engaging with the debtor in an active project. The
Group does not charge interest nor hold any collateral over the
balances.

Impairment assessment subject to ECL model

The Group applies simplified approach to measure ECL prescribed by
HKFRS 9. To measure the ECL of trade receivables, trade receivables
have been assessed based on individual assessment.

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group applied
individual assessment for its customers. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade
receivables which are assessed individually as at 31 December 2020
and 2019.

F—BE T _H=1t—HILFE

14.

B 5 EWGRE ()

RZE_ZEF+_A=+—H8 ' ~5H
2B PRNFIEEHRBRERAREN R
1,000,000 7T (Z&E— % : 7,638,000
BIT) MEIGIA - ZFARHRE BHE
BHR o R ERAAER © 709,000 T (=
T—NF: E|)E@E0HHKLA L -
BRE R TR R A S BB E
FAEBET—EIEE - TR AE
4 o NEEWER L BT BXIFH
R o
RIEBEFEHREESEERENNETRE
(EREE

AEEERBA ATEDTBMBERE
EBIF IR T IEEEEEIE - Al

EZFREWFENEHEERRE 85
FEUL 2R T8 O R I 1T S o
EAAEEEERBRERHET —B K

ilﬁﬁ%)ﬁféﬁﬁflﬁlﬁﬁﬁ ° NRH
JIM—FT_BFR-_FT-—NFE+=A
=t HEBETERFENE B EK

RREZEERRNEREEEEZERM
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—ZE—ZEF+ - A=+—HILFE

14. Trade Receivables (Continued) 14. EZEWRFRIE (&)

Impairment assessment subject to ECL model RIBFEEEEBEETHR

(Continued) B (58)
As at 31 December 2020 As at 31 December 2019
R-Z-ZE+ZA=+-H RZE-NF+_A=+—H
Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
Range of carrying loss carrying loss
loss rate amount allowance amount allowance
BREEE fREAE BEBERE REEE REEERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET 8T 8T
Internal credit rating
ABEETR
Low risk* 2020: 0.01% - 7.48%
(R * ZZZTF:0.01%-7.48%
- Lifetime ECL, (2019:0.14% - 2.84%) 10,164 266 28,375 217
not credit- (ZZ—NF 1 0.14% - 2.84%)
impaired
-2 HREHBEEEE
AEEEERE
& Referring to debtors have a low risk of default and do not have any prior default & FEEARIEEAN R R EEREATHELD

EHEAREALEZECERENEEA

records and are considered as not credit-impaired.

BHEEXRDEREKIRR A S
NBEMGBZELEZOE - URARE

The expected loss rates are estimated based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and internal

credit rating by reference to a study of other corporates’ default
and recovery data from international credit rating agencies, and
are adjusted for forward-looking information (for example, the
current and forecasted economic growth rates in Hong Kong, which
reflect the general economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate) that is available without undue costs or efforts.
Such forward-looking information is used by the directors of the
Company to assess both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at each of the reporting date.
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ire SR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =TT F+ - A =1+—HILFE

14. Trade Receivables (Continued)

Impairment assessment subject to ECL model
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised
a net impairment losses of approximately HK$49,000 (2019: a net
reversal of impairment losses of HK$246,000), based on individual
assessment.

The movement in the impairment loss allowance in respect of trade
receivables during the year was as follows.

14. E5BYEIE (&)

BEBEHREEFEENNETHR
B (8)
REBEE—_ZE_ZTF+_A=+—HItF
& - NEBREE R LR EEE
B FEE449,0008 L (ZFE— NF -
R B B 18 85 8] 7 F 58 246,000 87T ) ©

RENE ZRBFIR ZBERBEREE
BT

Impairment loss

allowance

AEEERE

HK$°000

T

At 1 January 2019 WZZE—-hF—HA—H 463
Impairment losses reversed B ERESE (463)
Impairment losses recognised ERERRERE 217
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-NF+_A=+—8 217
Impairment losses reversed R AEIVER =Yg (217)
Impairment losses recognised ERRBEEE 266
At 31 December 2020 R-B-BF+-A=+—8 266
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ire ISR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE T F+ - HA=+—HILFE

15. Other Receivables, Deposits and 15. HthEWRIE - REREN
Prepayments FRIE
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Other receivables and deposits H b FEWRIE RigE 604 413
Prepayments (Note) FEfF A (FisE) 41,184 64,631
41,788 65,044
Note:  The balance mainly represents prepayment to certain subcontractors which are MizE : BESREIBEBENTETSEEBEMAZRE -

expected to be utilised within six months after the reporting period.

EREZERABRAT 2020 F5H
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =TT F+ - A =1+—HILFE

16.

Contract Assets/Liabilities

The following is the analysis of the contract assets and contract
liabilities:

BREE AfE

UTREWEERAHRBZ DN

2020 2019

—BEHF —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Contract assets BREE 180,456 131,139
Less: Impairment loss allowance W BRI E (1,304) (1,013)
179,152 130,126

Contract liabilities BHAaRE (87) (2,165)

As at 1 January 2019, contract assets at net and contract liabilities
amounted to approximately HK$83,604,000 and HK$2,737,000,
respectively.

Contract assets

Amounts represent the Group’s rights to considerations from
customers for the provision of Construction Services, which arise
when: (i) the Group completed the relevant services under such
contracts; or (i) the customers withhold certain amounts payable to
the Group as retention money to secure the due performance of the
contracts for a period of generally 12 months (defect liability period)
after completion of the relevant works. Any amount previously
recognised as a contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables at
the point at which it becomes unconditional.

R-F-—NF—A—B aWEEFE
K& KIRIED R 7% 83,604,000 78 7T &
2,737,000 87T °

BRNEE
BHEERASERHEEERFMAZT
FUWERERERN  ZERETIR ()
AEBEXZEFA KR NARBRE
() FEFRMNENAKRERD RBIER
RE 2 AREBRER TR KK KRB
B(—R&12M8A8) (RIEEEH) ZERE
TENMES - TAER/ANEEN
EReBEEEERBREREROES
B MR -
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ire ISR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE T F+ - HA=+—HILFE

Contract Assets/Liabilities (Continued)

Contract assets (Continued)
The Group's contract assets are analysed as follows:

BHREE BE ()

BREE (&)
REBNANBESTMT :

2020 2019
= —TNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Construction Services contracts — current BERBEL - R
Unbilled revenue* A B * 149,035 104,199
Retention receivables U IR [E & 30,117 25,927
179,152 130,126
= It represented the revenue not yet been billed to the customers which the Group L HEAREEEERZEEKIE T ERERES

has completed the relevant services under such contracts but yet certified by
representatives appointed by the customers.

Changes of contract assets were mainly due to increase in: (1) the
amount of retention receivables in accordance with the number of
ongoing and completed contracts under the defect liability period;
and (2) the size and number of contracts in respect of Construction
Services that the relevant services were completed but yet certified by
representatives appointed by the customers at the end of reporting
period.

The Group’s retention receivables included in the Group’s contract
assets will be settled at the expiry of the defect liability period of the
relevant contracts or in accordance with the terms specified in the
relevant contracts. The balances are classified as current as they are
expected to be received in its normal operating cycle.

EREZERABRAT 2020 F5H
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =TT F+ - A =1+—HILFE

16.

Contract Assets/Liabilities (Continued)

Contract assets (Continued)

Impairment assessment subject to ECL model

The Group applies simplified approach to measure ECL prescribed by
HKFRS 9. To measure the ECL of contract assets, contract assets have
been assessed based on individual assessment.

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group applied
internal credit rating for its customers. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL for contract
assets which are assessed individually as at 31 December 2020 and
2019.

16.

BHREE BE ()

BREE (B)
RIERREEHBEETRER
i
rEBERH A ERBRBRE
EAFORMEMBREEMR - B
BANAENBEREEEE - S%(ER
S EEH A AR TATL -

ERAEBEERRERELF R K
SEHERXFEAANDBEETHK - TX
HIN_ZE_ZEFR_F-NF+=A
=+ —BEEETENFHNENEE
ZIEERRLKBEEEEBZER -

As at 31 December 2020
R-ZE-ZF+-A=1—H

As at 31 December 2019
RZE-NF+=ZA=1+—H

Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
Range of carrying loss carrying loss
loss rate amount allowance amount allowance
BEREE AREAE REEERE REZE REEBERE
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET BT
Internal credit rating
REMEERTR
Low risk* 2020: 0.01% - 7.48%
KR * ZZZTF:0.01% - 7.48%
— Lifetime ECL, (2019: 0.14% - 2.84%) 179,577 794 131,139 1,013
not credit- (ZF—NF:0.14% - 2.84%)
impaired
-2 HREHEEEE
AEEEERE
In default** 2020: 58% 879 510 — -
EH “T_TF : 58%
— Lifetime ECL, (2019: Nil)
credit- (Z2-—NF: &)
impaired
-2 HRHEERE
FEEERE
* Referred to debtors have a low risk of default and do not have any prior default L EEBABRIKEAE MR &I B L RTREL
records and are considered as not credit-impaired. WEE A MR AW BB EERENEBEA
i Referred to debtors have evidence indicating the assets are credit-impaired.

o EAREBRBMRAERERLECERENES
Ao
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—ZE—ZEF+ - A=+—HILFE

16. Contract Assets/Liabilities (Continued)

Contract assets (Continued)

Impairment assessment subject to ECL model (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised
a net impairment losses of approximately HK$291,000 (2019:
HK$119,000), based on individual assessment.

The movement in the impairment loss allowance in respect of
contract assets during the year was as follows:

BREE BfE (&)

BHREE (8)
RIBETERGEESEENETRER
d (4&)
REBE-ZT-_TF+-_A=+—HLF
B AEEREERNFHERREE
BIFE#291,0008 (=T — N F:
119,00077T) °

FRN - GREEZREEREREEZN
T

Impairment loss allowance

WEEBERE
Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired Total
FEERE EERE #Et
HKS 000 HKE 000 HKE 000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2019 R=—E—hF—H—H 894 - 894
Impairment losses reversed B ERESE (894) - (894)
Impairment losses recognised ERERREEE 1,013 = 1,013
At 31 December 2019 RZZE—NF+_A=1+—H 1,013 = 1,013
Transfer to credit-impaired ERZEERE (20) 20 -
Impairment losses reversed B ERESE (877) = (877)
Impairment losses recognised EHERRER R 678 490 1,168
At 31 December 2020 R-B-BF+-A=+—H 794 510 1,304
Contract liabilities BREE

The Group’s contract liabilities are analysed as follows: REEZERBESTAT
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Construction Services contracts — current BERBEL - RE 87 2,165

EREZERABRAT 2020 F5H
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=
N

For the

16.

17.

A %5 R BT ot

year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—Z

F—BE T _H=1t—HILFE

Contract Assets/Liabilities (Continued) 16. GHNEE &fE (&)
Contract liabilities (Continued) ,."JEJT (#8)
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the contract liabilities mainly RZEBE_ZTEFR_FT—NLF+=HA
represent the excess portion of certified revenue over the recognised =+—H AHEEFERCERKS
revenue, the balance will be recognised as revenue for the year HR ) B %R W B R 8 B0 ﬁfaiiﬁ?
ending 31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively. BARRBE—_T-_—FR-_F-_FTF
+ZA=+—HIFEERBYE -
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised TRINTEERWEFEEBLSNEE
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities. EANKRESRE
2020 2019
—E-%F —h&E
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FEIT
Revenue recognised that was included FHETAE KB EEHE
in the contract liabilities balance B R
at the beginning of the year 2,078 2,737
Pledged Bank Deposit/Bank Balances and 17. SEBRITER BITHEE

Cash

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s bank deposit was pledged

as collateral for the Group’s banking facilities. The interest rate on

pledged bank deposit was approximately 0.05% (2019: Nil) per

annum. This deposit has a maturity of one month (2019: Nil).

Bank balances and cash are interest-free
31 December 2020 and 2019.

or at nominal rate as at

kEE

RZZEZTF+ZA=+—H ' ~&E
WIRITEREBERIERAEERITHE
IR G o EEBRITHEROFENEL
70.05% (ZZF—NF : &) - ZHFAH
HRAE—M@MA(ZE—NF: &) -

RZE_EFR_F—NLE+_A
E+—E’fﬁi%&ﬁiﬁ%%gi
HEmAEGE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE T F+ - HA=+—HILFE

18. Trade and Other Payables 18. BEFNRHMEMNRE
2020 2019
—E-FF —TNEF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade payables B SR 4,174 16,065
Payroll and MPF payables TE RSB ENFKIE 606 1,179
Accrued expenses FERTR 1,892 2,427
Others HAtb 25 71
2,523 3,677
Total FE 6,697 19,742

The credit period on purchases from suppliers is 30 days or payable
upon delivery.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based

BRERBENEENR30 BN

B ST

TREINBEHRREZBHZ25|H

on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period: B SN IR BRE DT -
2020 2019
= —TNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Within 30 days 30HK 4,174 16,065

19. Bank Overdrafts/Bank Borrowings 19. SRITEX RITER

2020 2019
—F-%F —TNF
HK$000 HK$000
FHET FHEIT
Bank overdrafts RITHEX 21 3,815
Bank borrowings — secured HRITE - AEA 17,785 -
17,806 3,815

EREZERABRAT 2020 F5H
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 EEZ =%

19. Bank Overdrafts/Bank Borrowings

F—BE T _H=1t—HILFE

19. RITEXRITEN

(%)

(Continued)
2020 2019
—EC-EE —E-NEF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
The carrying amounts of bank overdrafts HAEREZREEKRRK
and bank borrowings that contain HERITIE X RARITE X
a repayment on demand clause HIAREE (RRE)
(shown under current liabilities) BEETIIR) -
but repayable*: MEFZ LA B ER(ER
— within one year - —FRA 12,094 3,815
— within a period of more than one year but - BiE—F{EDRMFNEERA
not exceeding two years 4,009 -
— within a period of more than two years - BBMFE ISR AFRHEA
but not exceeding five years 1,703 -
17,806 3,815
3 The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan * ZEBFRIBLNER GBS FEEE KRB HR
agreements. Ao

Notes:

0]

(ii)

(i)

Bank overdrafts carry interests at market rate of Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate (“HIBOR") plus 2% (2019: HKBOR plus 2.5%) per annum, also the effective
interest rate, and were repayable on demand.

The Group’s bank borrowings of approximately HK$ 17,785,000 (2019: Nil) as at 31
December 2020 contained a repayment on demand clause.

As at 31 December 2020, the banking facilities of the Group were secured by the
(1) legal charge over the leasehold land and buildings with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$6,322,000 (Note 13), (2) pledged bank deposit (Note 17), (3)
corporate guarantee executed by the Company, (4) personal guarantee executed
by Mr. Adam Cheung and Ms. LC Cheung and (5) assignment of rentals.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a facility agreement entered into with
a bank with certain obligation of Mr. Adam Cheung pursuant to such facility
agreement including Mr. Adam Cheung undertake to remain as a key management
of the Group.

As at 31 December 2019, the banking facilities of the Group were secured by the
legal charge over (1) the leasehold land and buildings with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$6,482,000 (Note 13) of the Group and (2) corporate guarantee
executed by the Company.

The weighted average effective interest rate of the bank borrowings
is 2.95% (2019: Nil) per annum as at 31 December 2020.

(ii)

(iii)

Q

SRITBEIIREBRITRIZESREZE ([HIBOR]) 10
FE2% (=ZZF— N : HBORIN2.5%) KT

SR (TFAERA )G 8 RAREREE

AEER=ZT_TF+=-A=+—HHERT
& 5K#4917,785,000 BT (=T —NF : &) B
SREREBIER -

AN—TE-_FTE+-—R=+—H  AEEKNE

TR E Th (1) BRE{E 446,322,000 4 LA

Gizh=g iﬁﬁ&ﬁ%z,ﬁma(wam QB

EHRITER(HEE17) ~ QARRBRILHA

AIER » () RECERKRLZLTE iE’MI)\W%
R (5) S ERE(FRA -

R-B_ZFE+_A=+—H AKECH
—RIRITAI L —ERE R - RIBEZBE W
#OREEREETEE  BERELERR
BERTASENTIREIEAS °

REZFB-—NF+ZA=+—8 XEEHR
TRV E B (1) AN S EREE X 56,482,000 7
TTRFRE i RIEF (I 13) R Q) AR FE
SR BIER ZATER S (R o

R-E-TF+—_F=+—H - EBI7E

I ERRF M EB2.95% (=
T-NFE)-
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 EEZ—F

20. Deferred Tax Assets/Liabilities

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset.

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial

ire ISR RN

F_TE+_A=1t—HILLFE

20. EERIEBEEE B

A BMAKRNEIME - &

ERIREERBED IR

TiE

TRARMGHRE & BT RIALE S

reporting purposes: DT
2020 2019
— 7 — ﬂi = 7j—|.1£'5
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Deferred tax assets BEFITBE = 75 203
Deferred tax liabilities EERIERE (122) (473)
(47) (270)
The following are the deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised and ERREERBEE(KE) RE#
movements thereon: HoT -
Accelerated
tax ECL
depreciation provision Total
EHEE
IEBETE EiE&E et
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$000
FHET FHET FET
At 1 January 2019 jli H—H 350 (224) 126
Charged to profit or loss (Note 9) ?Dﬁ? Q B (FIFE9) 123 21 144
At 31 December 2019 NZZE—hE
+= )EJ == 473 (203) 270
Credited to profit or loss (Note 9) s AEE (FisE9) (167) (56) (223)
At 31 December 2020 R-EB-EF
+=ZBA=+—H 306 (259) 47
As at 31 December 2020, the Group has unused tax losses of R-ZE-_FBF+-_A=+—H ~&EH

approximately HK$5,655,000 (2019: Nil), subject to agreement by
the Inland Revenue Department, that are available for offset against
future profits that may be carried forward indefinitely. No deferred
tax assets has been recognised in relation to tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The unused tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

EREZERABRAT 2020 F5H
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21. Share Capital 21. BAR
Details of the movement of the share capital of the Company are as RATRARHEBFELAT
follows:
Number of Share
Notes ordinary shares capital
M aE ZEREE [N
HKS
T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FhR0.01 BT L ER
Authorised: SE
At 30 January 2019 (date of RZZE-NF—A=1+H
incorporation) (FEMRZEER) () 10,000,000 100,000
Increase in authorised share TETE RS IR
capital of HK$0.01 each 0.01%7T (©) 3,990,000,000 39,900,000
At 31 December 2019 and R-E-h&
31 December 2020 +=ZA=+—H
k=2=%F
+=ZH=1+—H 4,000,000,000 40,000,000
Issued and fully paid: EFTRHE -
At 30 January 2019 (date of incorporation) R=Z—AF—A=+H
(sEfASZ B ER) (a 1 —*
New shares issued for the Reorganisation RZZ-NF=ZA=1+N\H
on 28 February 2019 MEBHBITZHRGD (b) 9,999 100
Capitalisation Issue BRI BT (@] 1,949,990,000 19,499,900
Issue of shares upon listing ETREITRMD (d) 650,000,000 6,500,000
At 31 December 2019 and R-E-h&
31 December 2020 +=H=+—~H
R=2=%F
+=ZHA=+—H 2,600,000,000 26,000,000
# All shares issued rank pari passu therewith. # ARG HEERBEETROZERZHAL
* The amount is less than HK$1. 3 SEOR1ETT -
Notes: PiEE -
(a) On 30 January 2019, the Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as () RZF—hE—A=1+8 ' AQaNMASH

an exempted company with limited liability, the authorised share capital of the
Company was HK$100,000 divided into 10,000,000 ordinary shares of par value
HK$0.01 each at the time of incorporation. One nil-paid ordinary share was issued
to the initial subscriber and transferred to Wonderful Renown on the same date.
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Share Capital (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) On 28 February 2019, Wonderful Renown as vendor and the Company as
purchaser entered into a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which the
Company acquired 1 ordinary share of par value US$1.00 of Autumn Well
(representing its only issued share) from Wonderful Renown. The consideration for
acquisition was satisfied by (i) the Company credited as fully paid at par the 1 nil-
paid ordinary share held by Wonderful Renown, and (ii) the Company issued and
allotted 9,999 ordinary shares, credited as fully paid, to Wonderful Renown.

(© On 22 July 2019, pursuant to the resolution of the Company’s sole shareholder,
the Company’s authorised share capital was increased from HK$100,000 to
HK$40,000,000 by the creation of an additional 3,990,000,000 ordinary shares
of par value HK$0.01 each. Further, the Company allotted and issued a total of
1,949,990,000 new ordinary shares credited as fully paid by way of capitalisation
of a sum of HK$19,499,900 to share premium of the Company (“Capitalisation
Issue”) to shareholders whose names appeared on the Company’s register of
members on 22 July 2019.

(d) On 16 August 2019, the shares of the Company were listed on the Stock Exchange.
650,000,000 ordinary shares (“Share Offer”) at an offer price of HK$0.2 per share
were issued upon listing.

All shares allotted and issued during the year ended 31 December
2019 rank pari passu in all respect with the existing issued shares.

Retirement Benefit Plan

The Group participates in an MPF scheme established under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance for its qualified
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of
an independent trustee. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the
MPF scheme at rates specified in the rules. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the MPF scheme is to make the required
contributions. The cap of contribution amount is HK$1,500 per
employee per month.

The total expenses recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income amounted to approximately
HK$392,000 (2019: HK$591,000) for the year ended 31 December
2020 and represent contributions paid or payable to the MPF
scheme by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the scheme.
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21.

22.

R (&)
Wik ()

(b) R=-Z—HhF=AH=+ /8  Wonderful
Renown (tEABE ) BAAR (EREH) &1L
B E Wi I 2A B [m Wonderful Renown
USf 1 BRTEI B 1.00 £ TTHY Autumn Well 338K
(BPEM—BB1TRG) - WEFEBEZNREERA
()2 2 7] 4% i # Wonderful Renown £ 5 2 1
FRAR BT E AR EEARIIESR - K (i)
ZK/A &) 1A Wonderful Renown 2577 & fit 3£ 9,999
fRE R ABRSIER R MR AT ©

(© R-ZZE—NELA-+=B  REAQFK
—REEPDRFE R - 1B i8I % 3,990,000,000
BEREENBITHEBR  AAFH
3% TE % 7K B9 100,000 7 7T # 0 Z 40,000,000
FEIT o WA + RA BB ANMEAR A IR 5
819,499,900 7L ) 5 = AR 8 R B 114 H
1,949,990,000 & A BR 71| /E 51 2 #9 3 3 i AR
TBRMEBET)FR-_E-—NEFLtA-+=
B&5IA AR R A M AR AR -

(d) R=ZFE—AFNA+AB AAEKHD
R Em- Z#EBAER02ETH
650,000,000 R E AR ([ARMHFE ) K ETiE
AT o

RBE_E—NF+-_A=+—HIF

B REBEITHMERMDNETA 5 M

REBEITRHZEREHAL

RIKEFETE

AEEBRENBENAREREEZ2 MR
ERHIMELERETERIIRIMBES
AtEl - BEEF B ZEETIBIUNALE
B EE - BBMEFEAZES - RIE®E
Bestd BEREREBYALRAIMN
RN REASRTE S A EH K - X
KEFRE S S WME—RERIELAA
FHF - HREBRLRAEREEEA

1,500 7T ©

He T ZF+_-_A=+—HIHF
B RixcEakEMmEAKERPE
R X #FE#) 5392,0008 L (==
— L% : 591,000 7T) « REAEEIZ
FTEIRAIFTETRA L R MBS 8l
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23.

Share Option Scheme

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
conditionally adopted by the written resolutions of the shareholders
of the Company passed on 22 July 2019. Under the Scheme,
the board of directors of the Company may, at their absolute
discretion, at any time within a period of ten years commencing
from the effective date offer to grant to any eligible persons,
including employees, directors, consultants, suppliers, customers
and shareholders of any member of the Group, options to subscribe
for shares. The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The total number
of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted under the Scheme to eligible participants in any 12
months period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
shares in issue as at the date of grant, any further grant of options in
excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval of Company’s
shareholders in a general meeting.

No share option has been granted by the Company since the
adoption of the Scheme.

23.
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Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank overdrafts and bank borrowings, as disclosed in
Note 19, respectively, net of bank balances and cash and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share capital and
reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As a part of this review, the management considers
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of items
in the context of capital structure, and takes appropriate actions to
adjust the Group’s capital structure. Based on recommendations
of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through continuity of funding of cash flows from operating activities
or raising new funds by new share issues as well as the issue of new
debts.
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24. Capital Risk Management (Continued) 24, EXREBRERE (&)
The net debt-to-equity ratio at the end of the reporting period is as R EHAREFEFE R ERNT
follows:
2020 2019
= —TNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Debts &% 17,806 3,815
Less: Bank balances and cash RIS N IR e (5,945) (24,696)
Net debt (vl 11,861 (20,881)
Total equity b iy 228,806 221,437
Net debt-to-equity ratio FETSE R A L K 5.2% N/ATERA
25. Financial instruments 25. &RTH
Categories of financial instruments ETRTAEDHE
2020 2019
—ECEE —E—h4F
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Financial assets SHMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost R HEK AT EN S REE 21,447 53,267
Financial liabilities SHas
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEEK AT ENCREE 24,478 19,951
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group's financial instruments include trade receivables, other
receivables and deposits, pledged bank deposit, bank balances
and cash, trade and other payables, bank overdrafts and bank
borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective

manner.

Market risk

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. Management has assessed there is minimal exposure
of the interest rate risk on the variable rate of interest incurred on the
bank overdrafts and bank borrowings. It is the Group’s policy to raise
borrowing at fixed-rate or variable-rate according to business needs
and as to balance the fair value and cash flow interest rate risk.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management monitors interest rate risk exposure and
will consider interest rate hedging should the need arise.

No sensitivity analysis on the interest risk arising from the variable-
rate bank overdrafts and bank borrowings are presented as the
amounts involved are insignificant. The management considered the
fluctuation on the prevailing market interest rate is minimal.
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25.

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

At the end of each reporting period, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets and contract assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The Group's concentration of credit risk by geographical location is
mainly in Hong Kong, which accounted for 100% (2019: 100%)

25.

LRI E (&)

M RREEBZERBER (&)

8RR NEER L
REBREHR  AEEMEE RS
BB E AN KB A S F T REBITE
IMELMBER  FH@EEIIKEE

REFEEMBRAKRERCEREERE
HEERME °

=8

R =

AEBRMBEUESBZETEERR
TEERD RIER-_ZF_FTF+_A

of the total financial assets and contract assets as at 31 December =+t BeRMEENRAHNEEREN
2020. 100% (ZZF—AF : 100%) °
Included in the Group’s financial assets as at 31 December 2020 is AEBR-_ZE-_TF+-_A=1T—80H

bank balances and pledged bank deposit aggregate amounted to
approximately HK$10,945,000 (2019: HK$24,696,000) placed in
banks in Hong Kong.

The Group has concentration of credit risk in trade receivables and
contract assets, as approximately 86.6% (2019: 100%) of total trade
receivables outstanding at 31 December 2020, and approximately
92.4% (2019: 82.3%) of contract assets outstanding at
31 December 2020, were due from top five customers.

Other than concentration of credit risk on the trade receivables,
contract assets, pledged bank deposit and bank balances, the Group
has no other significant concentration risk on recognised financial
assets with exposure spread over a number of counterparties.

@ﬂﬁ%a%ﬁﬂ%% SIRTTHVIRTTAS
R B IFIRITFERE ££47 10,945,000
BT (ZZ—N4F : 24,696,000/87T) °

RZBEZZEF+_A=+—HBKEE
WE ZEBRIEEERH86.6%(=ZF
—NF:100%) RR_E_FF+ =
A=+ BMNREENEGNEEFL
Q4% (ZF—NF :823%)KBEAK
BFE AKEIE‘%TT%B’%M&%XIQ&%
HEENSETREERR -
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has policies in
place for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group carries out research on the credit risk of the new customer
and assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit
limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed when
necessary.

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
on trade receivables and contract assets individually. The Group
considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset
and whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition on an ongoing basis.

The Group reassesses the lifetime ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets at the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for significant increases in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
In this regard, directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

Relevant information with regard to the exposure of credit risk and
expected credit losses for trade receivables and contract assets are
set out in Note 14 and Note 16, respectively.
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25.

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

For other receivables and deposits, the Group has assessed and
concluded that the expected credit loss rate for these financial assets
is immaterial under 12m ECL based on the Group’s assessment
on the risk of the default of the counterparties. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. The directors concluded that there has been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the other
receivables and deposits. Thus, no loss allowance for credit losses
for the amounts is recognised during the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019 as the Group assessed the ECL was insignificant.

The credit risk of pledged bank deposit and bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulties in
meeting its financial obligations as and when they fall due. In the
management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains
a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The directors of the Company
monitor the utilisation of the banking facilities.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has available unutilised
overdraft and short-term bank loan facilities of approximately
HK$32,978,000 (2019: HK$14,237,000).

The following table details the remaining contractual maturity of
the Group for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of
the probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights. The
table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
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25. Financial instruments (Continued) 25. SRTE (&)
Financial risk management objectives and BREREREBERBE ()
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBE R ()
Weighted On demand Total Total
average  or within 1t02 2 to 5 undiscounted carrying
interest rate one year years years  cash flows amount
il REX AERRE REE
FRI= H—FR 1228 225% REAH BE

% HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET FET

Non-derivative financial ~ ¥{T££RAR
liabilities

As at 31 December 2020 R=ZB=Ff

+=A=+-8
Non-interest bearing TFitE
Trade and other payables &% REMERZE N/ARER 6,672 - - 6,672 6,672
Interest bearing il
Bank overdrafts RITHX 2.18 21 - - 21 21
Bank borrowings RITAEN 2.95 17,785 - - 17,785 17,785
Total @5t 24,478 - - 24,478 24,478
Asat 31 December 2019  RZZE—AF

+=A=1+—H
Non-interest bearing TFitE
Trade and other payables  Z5 R EfERZE N/ATEH 16,136 = = 16,136 16,136
Interest bearing il
Bank overdrafts PITEY 5.25 3,815 = - 3,815 3,815
Total st 19,951 - - 19,951 19,951
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25. Financial instruments (Continued) 25. SRTE (&)
Financial risk management objectives and BREREREBERBE ()
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REEEEE (F)
The table below summarises the maturity analysis of bank T?%TE{L?ETT1ﬁihE’J¢'JHH T & F R
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause based on the TRERAERBETE 2 HEEIER
agreed scheduled repayments set out in the loan agreements. The Eﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬂlwﬁﬁigﬁ?@ﬂﬂmﬂ ° %F
amounts include interest payments computed using the specified HEREFEAAREMNEHENFE
fixed rate. As a result, these amounts are greater than the amounts 3R Bt E%gﬁgﬁmﬁ’étuﬂ,ﬁﬂn
disclosed in the “on demand or within one year” time band in the ARSI TR E R —F N ] R PikE
maturity analysis above. Taking into account the Group’s financial e - ZRIIAEENMGRR » &
position, the directors of the Company do not consider that it is RAEERBEBRITHTKRAIEITE
probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to HRBERESRAGER - NARIEEE
demand immediate repayment. The directors of the Company EREFRITEFEBRBERBRAE
believe that such bank borrowings will be repaid in accordance with FFEER B HEER -
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.
Maturity Analysis - Term loans subject to a repayment
on demand clause based on schedule repayments
BESH - SRR A ER LM
RERBHZRANTHER
On demand Total Total
or within 1102 2 to 5 undiscounted carrying
one year years years  cash flows amount
REX AERAE BEE
H—-FA 122F 2E5% RELAE L

HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FEx FET T#Ex FET F#Ex

As at 31 December 2020 R-Z-Z&+-A=+-H
Bank borrowings PITIEN 12,365 4,116 1,715 18,196 17,785
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25.

26.

Financial instruments (Continued) 25. €@ T A (&)
Fair value NFE
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial REBWIFREEMEELNTE
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on recurring TEZEREERERMEBEZAT
basis (=]
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities is determined eREEREREBGBZATENRER
in accordance with generally accepted pricing model based on RERRERESM 2 AR EBENE
discounted cash flow analysis. E °
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of RRBIZEERR  REEaVBRERPIR
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in BIENTIIENeREERERBED
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair value. FREEEEAFEES
Significant Related Party Transactions 26. EXBHLERS
Apart from disclosure elsewhere in the consolidated financial BRREGETBEmRREMESAEES
statements, the Group entered into the following transactions with O REBRBE_ZT_ZTFR_F
related parties during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019: —NEFE+_A=+—HILFEHEHAK
RINATRS -
2020 2019
—E-EF —T-hF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B = FHET FHEIT
Rental expenses paid to: MATATZNESRAX -
Mr. Adam Cheung RAHE (i) 70 189
Ma Do Success Limited BRNKABR AR (i) & (i) 220 =
290 189
Notes: Fd%E
@ The rental expenses were charged based on the terms agreed between the parties @i) 2R TRIEA BT K077 1% IR R -
involved.
(i) A company directly owned as to approximately 40% and 30% by Mr. Adam (i) —HBAREERRZ TR EEESH40%

Cheung and Ms. LC Cheung, respectively. In addition, Mr. Adam Cheung and Ms.
LC Cheung are the directors of the company.

K2 30% BEH) AT o BEAN - SREAERKRR L
RAZNBNES -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE T F+ - HA=+—HILFE

26. Significant Related Party Transactions
(Continued)

The directors of the Company are also key management personnel
of the Group whose remunerations are disclosed in Note 10. Other
than that, the remuneration of a close family member of a director
of the Company and other members of key management personnel
of the Group during the year was as follows:

26.

EXBBERLIRS ()

ARREF(NRAEEEREEAR)
B F R ERMIEE10 - BRIEZIN - FR
ARREFNRKERBERAREEE
EEABHMKENFHEINT :

2020 2019

—E-EF —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$°000

FiET T

Short term benefits EHAtE A 1,180 1,871
Post-employment benefits B2 12 A 37 52
1,217 1,923
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27. Particulars of Subsidiaries of the Company 27. ARQFHE A BFE

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the Company R|ERRRRAREEREEFE W
at the end of the reporting period are set out below: B AR EERHINNT
Place of Issued and Equity interests
Name of incorporation/ fully paid attributable to
subsidiary operations share capital owners of the Group Principal activities
BETR FEBEAA
MEARERE MRS HRBRA FEfL IR A fE R TEEKED
2020 2019
—BC®F “FNF
Directly held:
BERR
Autumn Well BVI US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
RERUHS (E REER
Indirectly held:
EIERFR -
Pak Fai Hong Kong HK$300,000 100% 100%  Provision of wet trades
e Bk 300,000787T works services
REUK TR
Ma Yau Hong Kong HK$300,000 100% 100%  Provision of wet
BR Bk 300,000/ 7T trades works services
ALK TR
Creative Panda BVI Us$2 100% 100%  Investment holding
RERLES 2ETT REER
Vantage Charm BVI Us$2 100% 100%  Investment holding
RERLES 2ETT REER
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Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from  28.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE T F+ - HA=+—HILFE

Financing Activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from

financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.

Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash

flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s

consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.

BEERHELEEBHER

TRALRERDEL 2 AKEREN
g ERASMIFREEH - BER
HELZABEDREAREIARRRER
ERRNAEBEGARERERDBELAR

BEBMBRERECAE -

Accrued
Bank Bank share
borrowings  overdrafts issue costs Total
FEstiR
RITER RITEX BATHA met
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FETT FET FET FET
At 1 January 2019 R=ZZ—hF—HA—H 5,209 15,575 261 21,045
Financing cash flows MER®R=E (5,209) (11,760) (20,075) (37,044)
Non-cash changes R EH
— Issue costs recognised - EHEREITRA = = 19,814 19,814
At 31 December 2019 RZZE—hF+A=+—H — 3,815 — 3,815
Financing cash flows MERRE (M)
(Note) 17,443 (3,794) - 13,649
Interest expenses ERERAMN SR
recognised 342 - - 342
At 31 December 2020 R-ZE-ZEF+-A=+—H 17,785 21 - 17,806
Note:  The financing cash flows represented the net amount of proceeds from bank Mizk: BERESMERREBRITEBRAERE - X

borrowings, payment of finance costs and repayments of bank borrowings.
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29. Statement of Financial Position and 29. ARA TR IR R FHE

Reserves of the Company

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

ABARTRBEBRZ HHRREZ
R

2020 2019
—ECEF —T-NF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—FERB AR ZIEE —* —*
Amount due from a subsidiary JEW — R B AR FIE 92,208 67,668
92,208 67,668
Current assets REEE
Bank balances and cash RN 61 24,558
Total assets HWEE 92,269 92,226
Capital and reserves BEAXR#E
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AR A& AFE(GHE
Share capital f&N 26,000 26,000
Reserves (=] 66,269 66,226
Total equity R 92,269 92,226

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2021 and
signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam
REIE L
Director

EFE
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HATEERREFTERE -

Mr. Ma Kan Sun
BERASE

Director

EFE
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29. Statement of Financial Position and 29. ARRHBARR KK HE
Reserves of the Company (Continued) (%)
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RARZ @M T

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total
B EE =40 F #Et
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
At 30 January 2019 RZZT—NF—HA=+H
(date of incorporation) (zFfAcsz BER) = = =
Loss and total comprehensive HANBEIEE RSB
expense for the period - (17,384) (17,384)
Issue of shares under BB E M BEITEITIRG
the Capitalisation Issue (MF3E21(c))
(Note 21(c)) (19,500) - (19,500)
Issue of shares under BRI D B E BT
the Share Offer (Note 21(d)) (FFEE21(d)) 123,500 - 123,500
Transaction cost attributable BITHR D FEIE X SRR
to issue of new shares (20,390) - (20,390)
At 31 December 2019 R—E—hF+=-_A=+—8H 83,610 (17,384) 66,226
Profit and total comprehensive Ry & 2 E kS iEE8
income for the year - 43 43
At 31 December 2020 R=Z-—ZF+=-A=+—H 83,610 (17,341) 66,269
= The amount is less than HK$1,000. - £ 1,000/87T ©
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Financial Summary
BT F5 a2

A summary of the results and assets, liabilities and equity of the Group ~ #EC FIBEBEXGAUBRREBRER
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited EBRFRHETREFE 2 AEEX£ENEE 8
consolidated financial statements and the Prospectus, is set out below. The — EREZRBEBEH T o L B I KA

summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated financial ~— FTix&RA P ERER 2 —3D °
statements.
Results E 3

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=T—-HLEE

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—ECEF —ZE-NF —E-)N\F —E—+F —E-RF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEr FEr FEr FEr
Revenue e 304,965 558,137 431,819 245,034 151,978
Gross profit E 3,803 70,183 52,866 27,945 16,023
Listing expenses el - 17,586 2,024 = =
Profit for the year RARESEFEA
attributable to equity FEAG S5 A
holders of the Company 7,369 35,826 40,321 21,270 11,394
Assets, liabilities and equity EE  BEREDS
At 31 December
R+=—A=+—8H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—EIERF —ZE-NEF —E-NF —E—+fF —E-REF
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TF#ET T FET TET T
Non-current assets EMEBEE 11,615 13,919 7,918 6,496 5,865
Current assets MENEE 241,903 248,024 153,146 75,456 41,601
Total assets BEE 253,518 261,943 161,064 81,952 47,466
Current liabilities mEaE 24,590 40,236 84,937 45,129 31,918
Net current assets mEEEFE 217,313 207,788 68,209 30,327 9,683
Total assets less current BEERMEAE
liabilities 228,928 221,707 76,127 36,823 15,548
Net assets EESE 228,806 221,437 76,001 36,541 15,271
Equity attributable to NAFIERFEE A
equity holders of the JE(hHE RS
Company 228,806 221,437 76,001 36,541 15,271
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